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01' 

PROCEEDINGS ON THE TRIAL. 

IN the present volume nre printed the remainder of tile 
Speeches of Mr. Hastings' Counsel, in answer to the severll:l 
Charges maintained against him by the Managers for the 
House of Commons: and we resume our Summary of PI'O­

ceedings at the point of the production of evidence in 
Defence on the first Article of the impeachment. 

On the Ist of May, 1792, the eighty-first day of the trial, 1792. 
Mr. Law proceeded to adduce written evidence to show Evident'Clu 

. n.,tcnce 00 

that Cheyt Sing nud no claim to the favour of the Company t~~: 
from the conduct of his father, Bulwant Sing; nnd to prove, 
from the circumstanc~3 of his investiture with the Rajllship 
of Bennres, that the sovereignty over his territory. had been 
reserved to the Company. He then called Viscount Stor- Emmina-

. tioo of Via-
mont, to prove that, when he was Ambassador at the Court COUllt 

Stormont. 
of ]'rance, in the year 1777, he had sent to Mr. Hastings 
privately sach information of the designs of the French 
Government against the British power in India, as fully 
justified him in the measures he at that time took for putting 
the Company's provinces in a state of defence. The pro­
ceedings of the day terminated with the production of 
written evidence on the. subject of the demands mnde on 

a3 



ii PROCEEDINGS ON THE TRIAL. 

1792. Cheyt Sing for contributions in money and troops in aid 
of the Company. 

Exadions On the 3rd of May, the case for the Defence was con-
on Cheyt 
Sing. ducted by Mr. Plumer, who gave in further papers on the 

subject of the exactions made on Cheyt Sing; and, after.:. 
wards, produced evidence to show by' precedents the legality 

~e;~,:;~n of the delegation of their power by the Council ot Bengal to 
Obj~ion Mr. Hastings. Resistance w~s made by Mr. Burke to the 
to eVIdence. ' 

admission of much of the evidence, on the grounds of its 
being inapplicable, and that the precedents cited were not 
parallel to the case; but he declined to make an argument 
of. his objections, and the' Court" allowed the papers to be 
read. 

MDis~ress of The succeeding subject of the Counsers evidence was the 
"Jor ,. , 

~:=ent. distress of Major Camac's detachment,' occasioned by Cheyt 
Sing's unpunctuality ill his payments. Mr. Plumer produced 
a letter of . Major Camao, with an enclosure of extracts from 

Objection to two letters referred to in it. Exception was immediately taken 
enclosnres . ' 
in letters. by the Managers to the extracts, on the ground of absence of 

The Com· 
panydis­
tressed by 
Cheyt 
Sing's con· 
tumacy. 

proof of their being the identical papers mentioned in the 
letter. After some altercation, it was ruled by the Lord 
Chancellor-Earl Stanhope supporting him....:....that it was a 
case of probabl& evidence, and that" where the body <if the 
letter so refers to the enclosure, and the enclosure so far 
corresponds, as to raise a probability [of its identity], 
the Court will read'this letter, subject to have thatproba­
bility refuted' by any evidence that may be given on the 
other side." 'Mr. Burke protested against this decision, as 
contrary to a previolJs ruling of his Lordship, bu! was stopped 
by Earl Stanhope reminding him that he was arguing a: 
point not now before the Court. 

After the close of the discussion, Mr. Plumer and Mr. 
Law brought forward documentary evidence to prove "the 
distress sustained bi the Company at the period when Cheyt 
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Sing was withholding his assistance:' The question recurred 1792. 
of the admissibility of an enclosure in.a letter, without proof 
of its identity; but Mr. Burke waived further objection, 
under a protest conveyed in these words: "The same objec- :~t!~rke·., 

tion lies to this that lies to the other; but, your Lordships ~:~ 
having decideu that, we have made it a rule with ourselves 
to give as little delay as possible; therefore we make no 
objection, Jeaving ,it to· your Lordships to judge how far, 
on future trials, a great deal of evidence produced 'this day 
may be considered as precedents~"· 

On the 9th of May, various letters were produced by the Evide,!"" of 
. nece .. "tou8 

Ccmnsel to prove the necessities of the COlllpany, Dccasioning ~:,~~~e 
the exactions from Cheyt Sing. And these' were followed 
by evidence of the communication of the demands made on 
Cheyt Sing to the court of Directors' and to the Secretary 
of State. Mr. Dallas then opened a new head of evidence, N~lec,t or 

~h""lU 
viz., that Cheyt Sing failed in observing one of the conditions enares. 

upon which he held his zamindary, by neglecting'to maintain 
a reoO'ular police. Occasional obiections were raised by 0tobjecti~n~ 

J adWlSSIOft 

Mr. Burke; the principal of them being against the' admis- ~~: ::~m 
sion as evidence in fayour of Mr. Hastings of, the affidavits r.rl:'.!;' 
sworD: before Sir Elijah Impey, and which the Managers 
themselves had put in evidence against him. Mr. Burke's 
argument was, that" the Managers produced these affi.dllvits 
against Mr. Hastings, not as being found upon the Com-
pany's records, but as being transmitted, authenticated by 
himself, and sent here as papers in his own justification ;"-
but that, when brought forward for the purpose of defending 
him by criminating a third person, they became inad-
missible. On the Lord Chancellor's overruling the objec-
tion, 'Mr. Burke, although supported by Earl Fitzwilliam, 

*. Gurney's Report, MS., p. 58. 
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] 792. (lcclined the Chancellor's offcr to refer the point to the 
decision of the House. 

~pntl On the lOth of May, the eal'lier nart of the siuiu(1' Wl\S .or tn>at- ,. 0 

C'b~tOling. occupie.l in reading evidence on tIle part of the Defence, to 

E.mmin ... 
tion ot 
Ml\ior 
o.bonle. 

establish preceuents for the treatment of Cbeyt Sing on his 
failing in the payment of the sums exacted from him; to 
prove acts of rebellion on his part against the Company; 
nnd to justify the measures taken by lIr. Hastings for the 
government of the province of Denares aft.er Cheyt Sing'd 
expulsion. The document:~ were banded in by Mr. DlIlla..Q,. 
Ml\ior Osborne was then examined by Mr. Law on tbe 
subject of the disaffection of Cheyt Sing, and the general 
success and popularity of Mr. Hastings' administ~tion. 
Objection was made by Mr. Durke to much of the witnetls's 

_ evidence, as grounded on mere hearsay reports; and in some 
instances he was supported by the CourL IIe then entered 
upon a cross-examination of Major Osborne, which occupied 

Internl,," the remainder of the sitting. An interruption oecnrred 
':on by Earl 
Stanhope. during an attempt to elicit that the Nawab bad heen in-

duced, by complaints against the witnest', to decline his ser­
vices. Lord Stanhope objected to the inquiry as irrelevant, 
and was angrily rt'plied to by Mr. Durke, wbo, in the course 
of bis observations, said, "I come here well knowing the sub­
ject matter and w'ell knowing what it is fit for me to ask upon 
it; and tberefore those persons who do not know the subject 
mntter, or pretend to know my duty better thnn I do, are 
upon no account' to control me in the exerciso of it."· 
After observations ~y Mr. ~aw and Mr. Wyndham, one of 
the Managers, tIle Lord Chancellor directed the witness to 
answer the question put by Mr. Burke. 

The cross-examination of Major Osborne was continued 
on the following court-dny, the 15th of May. After its 

• Guml'y'_ Report or the Proceedings, MS., p. 116. 



conclosion, lIr.llarkJaam, who how been A~tant n~ent li9!. 
at EeIl:ll"C$ in the ye:ar 1 ;;8, anJ auhi;e.lucnt11 n~iJcnt. was~-;" 

n_I' • 1 J . _I I' L_ ,-'" IIr. called bI the .vaen~l. Coun..-e an- eUDlUh:u.or toe re- x.u... 

maindcr of the da"and on the follo .. ing court.-Jay, the IGlh 

of lla" 0:1 tbe .oole subject of tran..actioos connected with 
CMyt Sing. His el"ideoce \\"as coOi>iJereJ of mocb nIue 
on hebalC of 111'. Hastings. 

The tbree euuing ~ys, the 2!od, 23n1 and 30th. 
-of lUy. were dnoted to the cross-examination of Yr. Mark-
laam, conducted by lIr •• -\nstrnther and Yr. Durke. At tbe 
o{K'ning of p~gs on the lae-t day. ~I r. lIarkbam mted _r. _~. 
to tbe Court that, a f\!w minutes before, be bad recei"ed a ::-...:: --

baloor. 
note from Yr. Durke euclosin: a letter written by Yr. 
lI.arkJwn to his father, the Archhkhop of York, from Dc­
D:lI'eB, in Janllary, I n.~, inmH:diatdl alter die distorL:ance 
there; and that Mr. Barle, in his note, bad dffired him to 
correet his emence in 80IDe wtan~ wbere, he said, it bad 
been rather inaccunte. lie dOOreJ lb.,t the .. bole of the 
letter might be read in Court. 

e Yr. Durke expbioed that be b:ul acciJenWI, found the 
letter three dap before, and bad sent it to Yr. Marl.bam 
under the idea that it woold help bit recoll«tion of the 
nenu be wu ginng enJcnce concemin;. Ilia Dote to 111'. 
lIarUwn accounted f.>r the letter hein: in bit poseeeOOo. hl 
ftating that it bad been gll"en to IWn, as a member of the 
Select COIDIIlittee on India, bl the .ArcbhkLop, immeJiateil 
:UteJ' his receiring it; and it .. eut on to yy, "I eend it u I 
receit"ed it, and I keep no copy. I ban marked 80IDe putt 
with a peoeil. As the traruaction .. 3.1 so maol yean -.,,""'0, 
and your memory 11121 ea=iJr not baTe &erred you PCrCectl,. 
perhaps YOIl ~..-bt wish to reruhr &ome parta of your en-
dence more encL It is for that rea."OD I no. send it to ' 
yoo, .-iahiog yoo to make .ucb we or it 3.1 yoo think proper; 

hut thia I leave .-LoUy to your own disaetion. The letler 
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is in your sole possession. Perhaps you may think the mat­
ters marked of no moment. I shall make no use of it; and 
it is, I think, more proper that you ",hould have it than I:' 
Th~ letter, which gave a general account of Mr. Hastings' 
proceedings with Cheyt Ring, was read in Court. In the 
" History of the Trial," it is stated that the letter, "in every 
point of any importance, agreed exactly with .the evidence 
that Mr. Markham had given." The History further throws 
·out an insinuation of disingenuousness on the part of Mr. 
Burke, asserting that he had "cross-examined Mr. Markham 
for two days, just as a man would have done who had 
studied the letter to the Archbishop, which letter Mr. Burke 
had never seen, as he assured the Court, from July, 1782, 
·until he found it, in May, 1792, by accident."· 

Difficulty in On the day appointed for the resumption of the proceed­
forming the 
Court. ings, there was a difficulty in making a House. Mr. Burke, 

unwearied in his prosecution of the great cause he had under­
taken the direction of, and ever intent on attaining his object 
of It conviction, was the only one of the Managers present 
at the proper hour for assembling; and. it was only by 
the particular and earnest application of Mr. Hastings him­
self to individual gentlemen that the Court was formed. It 
was noW', indeed, apparent to him that his hope of seeing the 
termination of his trial in the present session of Parliament 
could not possibly be realised. The ardour with which the 
proceedings had been taken up at their commencement by 
the body of the Managers for the House of Commons, and 

.. In reference to this incident Mr. Adolphus remarkS, that .. the effect of 
the transaction was to dissolve entirely, or rather to convert into hostility, the 
sentiments of friendship which for fiO many years had subsisted between two 
men so worthy of each other's esteem as the archbishop and the senator." He 
adds, in a note, .. I have been informed, by a learned and most intimate friend 
of Mr. Burke, that a correspondence re.specting the authorship of Junius's 
Letters contributed to, if it did not produce, this alienation; but I am not 
informed of the date of such corresponc:ledee. An open declaration of dislike 
had not taken place till this period."-HistQJ'Y of England; Vol. VI., p. 184. 
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the interest in them exhibited by the general publio, were in l792. 
great measure extinct. The historian of the trial, in re- Ge",:;:;;j' 

• indifTerel1e8 
ference to the increasing slowness of its progress,' pomts out, ~_~~ .. pro-

..,.,..l\Igs. 

that whereas, "in the first year, 1788, the Managers, twenty 
in number, attended in a body; a House was a.l'."ays formed 
by twelve o'clock; generally earlier; and the Court sat from 
that time until five, and sometimes later, and sat thirty-five 
days in that year; at· present, in the year 1792, it is with 
the utmost difficulty a House can. be made before two; and, 
though we are now in the last day of May, the Court has 
only sat in this year sixteen days', but, in fact, not a third 
the number of hours that it sat in the first year. Two, 
three, or four, dressed Managers are all that attend-very 
few of the Commons--and, of the Lords, originally one 
hundred and eighty-six, there are not now more than from 
thirty to forty."-

Mr. Hastings had already, on previous occasions, urged P"tition or 
- Mr.H ... t-

the Court to more continuous sittings, to greater expedition ~:w~. the 

in its proceedings, and to the retrenchment of whatever could 
be considered superfluous in them. He now took the COUl'l:!e 
of a direct appeal to the Crown, petitioning that Parliament 
might not be prorogued until his trial WIlS finished.Pro-
bably a hope of stimulating still further in his favour the 
growing sympathy of the public mingled with more apparent 
motives for urging such a request; for he could have had no 
expectation of its being acceded to. The petition to the 
King was presented on the 30th of May; a.nd, at the close 
of proceedings on the following court-day, the 6th of J une-
during which Lieut. Birrell, CoL Blair, Mr. Charles Grmme 
and Capt. Wade, were examined by the Counsel, in order to 
elicit evidence that Cheyt Sing had deliberately planned his 

~_ " History of the Trial;" Part v., p. 2& •. 
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insul're~tion against the Company-Mr. Hastings rend the 
following written address to,the Court:-

" Before your Lordships retire to your chamber, I request that you 
will have the goodness to permit me.to make a short representation. It 
will not take up five minutes of your time. , 

" My Lords, what I have to offer is, in my conception of it, of so 
much consequence, that I would not venture to trust it to my' own 
recollection: what I have to say I have, therefore, taken down in notes. 
Will your Lordships have the goodness to permit me to read it? 

"I have already, my Lords, upon former occasions, ventured to state 
to your Lordships the hardships which I sustained by the unexampled 
length of this trial, eveil in the more ea;;ly periods of it. I mean not 
now to repeat them; nor will it be necessary to show to your Lordships 
how much they must be all aggravated by their subsequent extension. 
I merely allude to them for the purpose, and for that only, of bespeaking 
your pardon for the liberty I now take in praying your Lordships to 
allow me as much time as you can afford during this session to hear the 
remainder of my Defence. 

" I should not so anxiously press this upon your Lordships, were I not 
assured that your Lordships have no longer any call for your attention 
to matters of greater consequence ;-if any matter can exceed in its 
importance the course of a criminal trial protracted to so many yeare as 
mine has lJeen. 

" For my :Qefence to the Article now in evidence before your Lordships, 
my Counsel will desire only to call two or perhaps threll more witnesses­
certainly no more- selected from the survivors of a much larger number; 
whom we forbear to call from respect to your Lordships' time, and 
from a consideration of the uncertainty of my life or of theirs enduring 
to the end of a more complete refutation of the charge which the 
Commons ha,·e preferred against me. The examination in chief of those 
witnesses-for' I cannot limit the time of the cross-examination, or 
answer for that which may be lost by interruptions-will not take up 
the compass of two, or at the most three, hours. 

"Two more Articles, will then remain. On one only will it be 
necessary to call any parol evidence;' and for that only three witnesses 
-one a gentleman of very infirm health, who was settled with his family 
in the south of France, but came to England in the first year of this long 
tJ:ial, and has remained here till this time, in yearly expectation of giving 
his evidence at your Lordships' bar. Among the gentlemen whom I 
claim to be allowed to produce in evidence to the Article now under 
examination, there is one who, havin~ given his attendance through a 
considerable part of the first year, when it became evident that he could 
not be called till the next, informed me that his means of subsistence, 
though not his patience, was exhausted, and requested me to dispense 
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with his evidence, that he might return to his service in India. I, with· 1792. 
out· h~sitation, che~rfully ~onsented. 'l,?at gentleman accordingly .we~t lfp Hut­
to India; served with credit two campaigns under Lord CornwalliS; 11 lng's ad· 

again returned to England, and again in attendance to give his evidence l=l~~. 
in my Defence. Your Lordships will not he surprised if I should feel a 
more than common anxiety not to lose a witness whom I have recovered 

. in so singul~ a maimer from. so many obstacles which threatened to 
deprive me of the benefit of 'his testimony, nor to lose so i1ppressive a 
memorial of the extraordinary character of this impeachment. 

" It is hard, with so near a prospect of a close, to see it vanish into 
darknpss, and another year, or perhaps other years, if I should live to 
see them, destined for the continuation of this trial. 

" Let me beseech your Lordships to recollect that more than five years 
are already past since I first appeared at your Lordships' bar: and I am 
sure that, if anyone of the noble Lords who were then living and saw 
me there had been told-if human wisdom, which is the result of human 
experience, could have suggested such a conclusion-that more than five 
years would have passed before I could· have obtained a judgment, he 
~ould have pronounced it against the course of nature to expect it, and 
have resented the sUJ?position as an unmerited reflection on the justice 
and dignity of this great kingdom. 

" In the first year, which was the year 1788, the Court which your 
Lordships now compose sat 35 days; generally assembling at 12 o'clock, 
sometimes earlier, and sitting till five, and occasionally later. This year 
your Lordships have sat, within a week of the same period of time, only 
16 days, and have seldom been able to open the Court much earlier 
than 2 o'clock. I should be as ungrateful as unreasonable were I to 
insinuate that these delays were imputable in the least to your Lordships; 
neither is it my design to impute blame to any; it is the effect, not the 
cause, that I lament. Yet, my Lords, if I might be allowed to expostu­
late with those whose zeal, animating them to exertions and to a per­
severance of which, even in that body, there are few examples, brought 
me to the situation in which I now stand, I might plead, and surely 
without offence, that the rights and interests of the people of this king­
dom, and the honour of its Crown-which were the great inducements 
'stated by the Commons of Great Britain for calling together its highest 
court of judicature, to sit in trial upon me-are at least &!I much concerned 
in their using the same exertions to promote the course of thnt trial, and 
to bring it to an issue. 

" My respect forbids me to say more upon the subject; nor should I 
have said so much, but to make it evident to your Lordships that, what­
ever causes of delay have occurred, or may in future occur, in the course 
of this trial-if it can be supposed that I would willingly be instrumental 
to my own wrong-neit~er have been nor shall be in any wise imputabls 
to me. In . proof of this, I may alluds ~o, but I will not specify, the 
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many constitutional and even personal meana to which I have had 
recourse to' accelerate the progress of the trial and remove every ob~truc. 
tion to it. 

C< That I might not again urge a request to your Lordships which it 
might not be in your Lordships' power to grant, I have profited by the 
error which, I have been told, I committed in the petition which I last 
year addressed to your Lordships, and have addressed an humble petition 
to His Majesty, praying that he would be graciously pleased to permit 
your Lordships to continue to sit till the close of the trial. I rely 
with perfect confidence ,on His Majesty's gracious disposition to grant 
my prayer; and, in that case, I do assure your Lordships that every' pOS. 
sible means shall be used by me, and by the gentlemen whom you have 
given me for my Counsel, to bring my Defence to a speedy conclusion. 

C< If, which I reluctantly suppose, it shall be deemed unreasonable, or, 
for. causes which cannot fall within the scope of my limited com pre • 

. hension, improper, I do most humbly and most earnestly entreat your 
Lordships, in that. case, that you will afford me as many days as may be 
necessary to bring the present Article to a close, and to allow my Counsel 
to sum up the evidence· on this Article, while it is recent in your Lord-
ships' recollection."· • 

The request conveyed in the concluding pa.ssage of this 
address was considerately regarded by their Lordships, and 
exertions were made to advance the proceedings by more 
frequent sittings during the short residue of the session. 

On the 7th of June, the evidence for the Defendant on 
the first Charge was closed, by the examination' of Lieut. 
Grey, an officer originally in the Company's and afterwards 
in the King's service; CoL Popham, who was employed 
in principal command against Cheyt Sing; and Capt. Simes, 
an officer in the King's service, who had acted against Cheyt 
Sing, and who had also been employed in India since the 
commencement of the trial. The latter witness testified to 
the high estimation in which Mr. Hastings was still held by 
all classes in India, and to the attachment of the people 
to him. The cross-examinations were conducted by Mr. 
BUrke, with some few interruptions from the Counsel for 

• Gnrney's Report, MS:: and " History of the Trial;" Part v., p. 27. 
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Mr. Hastings, Lord Stanhope taking part in the discussions 1792. 
arising from them. 

On the 9th of June, the ninety-second day of the trial, Mr. ~1I88' 8ummwlltup 
Mr. Dallas commenced his summing up of the evidence for x~:eVl' 
the Defence on the first Article of the Charge, continuing it 

. on the 11th, and Qoncluding it on the 12th of the same 
month. His speech throughout was characterised by re­
markable clearness in the. arguinent, and by fluency of 
delivery. On its conclusion, the Court adjourned to the Adjourn. 

mcnt. 
second Tuesday in the next session. 

The Parliament aseembled on Thursday the 13th of De­
cember in the same year, but the trial was not resumed 
till the 15th of February, 1793; although, on the lIth ofCommittoo 

- cUho 
the month,on the motion of Major Maitland, a committee ~,:::~ to 

had been appointed by the House of Commons to conside. i~~J;:t 
of the best means for expediting ,the proceedings. During 
the recess, Lord Thurlow, who had personally a high regard Retiremdnt 

otLonl 
for Mr. Hastings, had resigned the Seals, and was succeeded Thurlow. 
by Lord Loughborough, who presided at the opening of the 
Court. The effect of the duration of'the proceedings, now Changes ill 

. h 'h . 'k' I . d b the Pocrago. entermg t e SIXt .. year, IS stri mg y pomte out y an 
observation _ of the historian of the trial He says,-" It 
was impossible to view the Court without strong sentiments 
of regret for the havoc which time had made amongst the 
members of it since the Begum Article was opened in 1788. 
At that time, one hundred and eighty-six Peers were present; 
on this day, from twenty-two to twenty-eight: one hundred 
and twenty-one changes in the Peerage, since the year 1788, 
having taken place," * 

The first and second days. of the proceedings in the year 1793. 
1793-'-theninety-fifth and- ninety-sixth of the trial-wereMr.~\V·. 

. d b M L' opcmug or occuple y r. aw'sopelllng of the Defence on the the Dot.noo 
• on the 

______ ~----~------------~--------__________ .~nd 
Oharge. 

... " History. 'of the Trial j" Part vi., p. 39, .Dote. 
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second Al·ticle (If t.he 'charge, relnting to the h'cntlllcut of 
the Begums of Oud('. 
. On the 20th of February, the ninety-seventh dny of the 
trial, documentary evidence was hnnded in by Mr. Hastings' 
Counsel, to show the amount of t.rensuro in tIle possession 
of the BO\v Begum, at the time of Suja-ud-Dowla's denth, 
and to prove that it was the Nawah's property, entrusted 
to her custody in his lifetime; that the succeeding NI\wab 
was intitled to all personal property of his fnther, 8a\'e only 
an eigllth part of whnt remnined after pnying his debts; nnd 
that he wns in great pecuniary distress on account of a 
heavy debt to the Company, inherited from his predecessor. 
They then rend a portion of the voluminous eOl'l'espondcneo 
of Mr. Bristow, the Com!lnny's Reside'nt at tho court of 
Oude, with the Governor Genernl Qnd Council, on tho 
subject of the Nawah's treaty with the Dow B('glllll, in 
1775, and his situation in cons('quence of her non· observance 
of it. 

Obj«:ctioll to During the proceeuings, Q long discllssion took 1)ll\ee 011 
readmgnx-

d
t"'cts from an obieetion raised by the Mnnngers to the practice by 

OCWIlOUts. J . 

the Counsel of reading extracts only fl'Otll tho docllments 
produced; unless tIle . Appendix, in which the r('\nnindcr of 
the papers wo~lJ nppear, might be considered as e\'idcnce 
of itself. The Manngers were told thnt it had alrendy been 
laid down that a document inserted in tIlO A ppentlix WIIS 

not of itself evidence, simply becauso it w~ there insertell ; 
but thnt they were at liberty to have tho remainder of the 
several papers read if they chose it; and that, if tlley woulJ, 
at the next sitting of the Court, point out such parts of tllO 
documents nil th('y wi8hel1 to bave rend, they would be' 
entered as of the Minutes of tho day. 1\1r. Sheritlnn took 
part, in the dil!eu88ion; the practice of reading extrncts (mill 
papers nnd lll'inting the entiro documents in an Appendix 
haying been adolltetl, carly in tllo trh\l, at his suggestion. 
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On the 26th of Fehruary, the ninety-cighth day of tIle 1793. 
triill, Capt. John Gordon, who bad heen employed in the EY~'" 
Nawah of Oude's service in the year 1781, ga"e eviJence ~ 
of acts of resistance by the Begum's troops to the force 
under his command. He was cross-examined hy Mr. !:at;::: &0 

Burke i who wished to have reserved' the right of calling :-"~ 
the witness on the following court .. dny for further examina-
tion. :Mr. Law insisted on the duty of the Manageril to 
finish their cross-ulunination of one witness heror~ another 
was called. The Lord Chancellor supported the Counsel, 
Lut pointed out that the Managers bad the power of filling 
up t.be remainder of the day's sitting by frivolouil questions, 
thus obtaining the privilege of pUriluing the cross-examina-
tion on the following d:ly-a colll'se of proceeding w hiclt 
was immediately denounced by Lord Stanhope as eeandalous 
and unworthy of the :M~0'Cl'S. 

On the 27th or Febrl1ary, Capt. Williams gaTe evidence Jm~oI 
{'apt.. 

of hostile ncts of the ~egums directed against the Company. \hiliama. 

Tile examination was frequently interrupted by objections or Obj('ftioa &0 

. the Managel'il-principallyofMr. Sheridan-to the witness's == 
statements of hearsay reports being admitted as evidenec. 
At the end of the examination, Mr. Hastings made the 
following address to the Court:-

" M1 Lords, I f'ealo to lose the short time that remains, and thereCore Hr. U .. 

I request that you will have the goodness to afford me a Cew momenta ~1ljP;"-:n1l 
oC that time. I am not prepared Cor what I wish to say to your Lord- .. :::'i7'IJI. 
ships. I have just received an intimation, which I hope I may mention 
without any disrespect to the Comt, because it respects a thing which 
may be done, and which is in your Lordships' discretion, and which it is 
impossible for me to know; and it would be vert disrespectful for me 
even to inquire whether it is likely to happen; but I may express my 
own apprehensions upon the subject, supposing that it may happen. 

" It has been intimated to me that this is probably the last day that I 
sball have the honour of aeeing your Lordships in this place berore the 
adjournment which will be necessary when the judges go on the circuit. 
My Lords, I receive this intimation with Vert great alarm and great un-
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easiness. The' gentleman who is now under examination, I suppose, 
will be called again to your bar, and must undergo a counter~xamination 
on the part of the Managers. I do not know that my own Counsel 
have yet done with him: There are other witnesses. 

«My Lords, it is tome painful, whether it is so to anyone else or not, 
that I have been under the necessity :o( keeping gentlemen-many of 
whom I respeclr-many of whom I have a very great affection for--that 
lhave' kept them from year to year. 1 have brought them from their 
families, many from a very great distance, to attend here. They have 

, attended from year to 'year, from day to day, and have been obliged, to 
go back again. 

" My Lords, while I was sitting he~e yesterday I received a note that 
Mr. John Scott, of ,Tailda, one whose name your Lordships have fre­
quently heard~ and who was summoned to attend upon your Lordships 
as a witness in my defence upon this Article, is dead-that he died as he 
was pi-eparing to set out. ' My Lords, i~ a mal like this, how can I de­
pend upon justice being fully done to me, whllD I am to tun Buch hazards 
even of the ,evidence that I am about to produce? Tl1e life of man is 
scarcely to be estimated beyond a twelvemonth, One gentl~ma~, I have 
been told, has been called from lllslamily at Exeter. Another has attended 
from the north of Scotland-Major'LllIilsden.' Another gentleman, is 
lately returned from India, having obtained leave of absence" because it 
was a time of peace, when his services were not ,much wanted, and is 
now impatient to return to his ,service there-Colonel Duff: and, my 
Lords, if I know his character; even for the sake of doing me justice, he 
will not reIlJ.8.in after the time when it will be, necessary for his honour 
and for his duty that he should return. But, if an adjournment is to 
take place for five 'or 'siX'weeks and he is not examined, my Lords, I 
must lose him-I may lose the other wit~esses, as I have many. There­
fore, my Lords, I hope I am justified, iII ~he request that I make by the 
example of one 'of the honourable Managers at my left hand. I heard 
him affirm that he had a Jight to request-I beg that what I say may 
Dot be deemed disrespectful~that he had a right to request your Lord­
lhips to adjourn. I pray your Lordships not to adjourn. If he had a 
right, I have an equal right. I have an equal right with the Managers, 
or with the whole House of Commons, were, they here. In this place, 
I stand upon an equal footing with them. 

" My present request is that you will have the goodness to meet as often 
as it is possible to meet, between this and the necessary time for adjourn­
ment, to enable the judges to go the circuit i that my Defence upon this 
Article may be closed, or at least-my Counsel seem to be satisfied with 
that, Md I cannot' possibly be satisfied with 'less~that the parol evi­
dence may be closed. It ~ be hud, 'my L()~ds, to wait with half the 
business'done"':'with your Lordships' attention broken, and your recol-I 
iections to be' refreshed, when you come again, ,by the repetition perhaps: 
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of all that you have heard. I pra11 therefore, that you will have the 1793. 
goodness to meet, if I may ask it, from day to day, until as many days H 
shall be gh'en, or as much time shall be given, as shall be necessary for rn~:. ~t-. 
the evidence to be closed upon this Article. ~':."i:Jlh 

.. My Lords. having asked so much, may [ be permitted to occupy-I 
hope not to waste-a few more minutes of your attention T My Lords, 
when the near approach of the time which was appointed, or expected, 
to put an end to the sitting of Parliament, in the year 1788, made it 
necessary for your Lordships to adjourn. my trial to another year, I felt 
the suspension as an intolerable grievance, of which there was no example 
in the annals of this kingdom, if of . any other. But, my Lords, I am 
now in the stuh year of my prosecution"':"nay more, in the eighth, if the 
inquest of the House of Commons which preceded this impeachment be 
added to it, as it ought, since its eli'ect upon me is the same. And 
through how' many more this scourge is to be hung over my head I know 
not: there may be no end. . 

" But, my Lords, I do most solemnly conjure your Lordships that. if by 
apy means which you can devise I may be freed from the dread of more 
aimual adjournments of this trial; and assured that this session shall end 
it, you will have the goodness to affor.d me that grace. My Lords. I do 
not-I hope I shall not be understood to-express a wish for any other 
end than the judgment of this Court. Any other ~ shall consider. from 
whatever quarter it comes-and I know that it cannot come from your 
Lordships-as a direct denial of justI-be. No. my Lords, I requj.re no 
more than judgment, and to be allowed a chance of it. while I have a 
chance of living to receive it. . 

"My Lords. I hope also that I shall not be misunderstood to intend the 
smallest reflection upon your Lordships for the delays. of which I com­
plain. It would be unbecoming in me to ascribe them to any peraonal 
agency; but I may, without.8. breach of .decorum, say that, in the causes 
which I have in my own mind and in the fullest conviction assigned for 
them, this Court has no concern. -Nor have I ever, in secret, felt a ten­
dency to repine at any resolutions of your Lordships, without· reproach­
ing myself.with injustice and ingratitude, remembering the long, painful 
and assiduous,' attention you have bestowed upon the proceedings of this 
triitl. Nor;in prayiIig your Lordships for redress, do I know that I pray 
for that which it is in your own immediate power to. grant-though it 
may beto£acilitate, or bimediatioll to bring to pass eventually. that 
which you may not be called to commaI!-d. To your wisdom I appeal 
for the means, to . your justice for their application. I solicit only their 
eli'ect. 
·.u-My Lords;-I-have'said that I solicit from your Lordship8 and request 

that which it may not be in your power to command.. I ought to explain 
mYseit.· The last yea:r; my Lords; I 'did make trial of another channel-

.othet means' of 'ObtWllng -tIiat which' I now so eu.rnestIYdesire-but it 
. b2 
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was without effect. I believe I may attl-ibute my want of success to my 
own delicacy, which withheld me from making the trial until it was too 

Mr. Hast-
hlg's art. late to expect, on reasonable grounds, a successful issue of it. My Lords, 

1793. 

~~'l:."i:J;.h ' I ventured to present a petition to His Majesty himself. I am sure that, 

Mr. Burke's 
answer. 

Delay by 
lloll-attend· 
aneeofthe 
Manage .... 

if it could have been granted, it would have been granted. I am now 
sure, my Lords, that nothing but that which is in his power to grant 
will give me the prospect, which I soeamestly desire, of seeing this trial 
brought to an end during the pl'esent session of Parliament. 

" I was made to expect, some time ago, that means would have been 
taken in another quarter. I had heard that the honourable the House 
of Commons had come to a unanimous resolution to devise some means 
for accelerating the issue of this trial: and, from the universal opinion 
that I have heard entertained of' the length of it, and from my knowledge 
that there never was an example in this kingdom of a trial even of one 
year's duration, I did believe and hope still that this year would ha\'e 
been the last. But I ha\'e ,no reason now to believe that the end is 
nearer than it was; and therefore it is that I make this my lut request. 
I cannot request of your Lordships that you will resolve to sit this year 
until the trial shall be closed. My request to your Lordships is, that 
you will be so good as to endeavour to obtain that which you cannot 
grant me-that is,' a continuation of the present session of Parliament, 
until this trial shall be closed and your judgment pronounced upon it. 

" I have said that I was too late, the last year, in making the applica­
tion in what.I conc!live to be the regular way. I now make that applica­
tion to your Lordships; and I hope that, through your Lordships, I may 
obtain that which I so earnestly desire. In the meantime, my present 
request is that you will have the goodness to sit for so many days and 
so long ae to allow the evidence upon this Article to be closed." * 

Mr. Burke, in answer, offered on the 11art'of the Commons 
to do every thing their Lordihips might propose to expedite 
the trial; but reminded Mr. Hastings that the Court was at 
present occupied with bis Defence, which it was only in 
his own power to shorten; while the frequency of sittings 
of the Court de11ended on their Lordships' pleasure. Mr. 
Sheridan rose to speak, but the a.djournment was moved. 

On the,28th of February, the Lords assembled at tweh'c 
o'clock, but proceedings were delayed by the non-attendance 
of the Managers for the Commons.t 'When the Court was 

• Gumey'8 Ueport, MS. 
t .. Mr. Burke, afterwards, in the House of Commons, mentioned this cir­

eirewnstance to have arisell from the Lofd8 having assembled earlier thall 
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formed" M~. Burke ,vent through his cross-examination of 1793-
Cupt. 'V'illiams. After which, Mr. Sheridan addressed the c"';;'" 
C t · h h . h d t .. h minationol ,ourt, s atlllg t at e WIS e 0 put certain questIOns to t e C~l?t, 

. H fi d h' . h d' 'Willama. wltncss. e pro esse IS anxiety to s orten procee mgs, 
nnd proposed that, as all 'the evidence given by the witness 
was of reports which he had not proved had reached Mt. 
Hastings, and, therefore, was worthless, and as the Counsel 

, professed they were able to prove the communication of 
the reports to Mr. Hastings, they should at once produce 
this link which was wanting to give validity to the evidence. 
The discussion which ensued 'Was stopped by the Lord 
Chancellor as irregular; and the Court adjourned. 

On the 1st of March, the 101st day of the trial, the 
,attention of the Court was engaged in the cross-examination 
of Capt. Wilfiams by Mr. Burke and Mr. Sheridan, princi­
pally on two points; first, his authority for putting to death 
a certain Raja' Mustafa Khan, which he showed to have been 
done by command of his superior officer, Col. Hannay, and 
that the Raja had beeu condem~ed to death by the Nawab 
of Oude as a freebooter and notorious rebel; secondly, re­
specting a Persian letter, supposed to be from an agent of 
the Begums, and conveying -orders to prevent the Rajas from 
lending assistance to the Company's officers, and which had 
been produced to the Court by the Counsel of Mr. Hastings; 
the object of the Managers being to throw discredit on the 
letter. 

The proceedings on the following day, the 2nd of March, ='O:or 

commenced with an address from the Lord Chancellor to the ~~ur!~ 
M d h C I . .. h t b terruptiona . anagers an t e ounse, enJolDlDg t em 00 serve more in,the,em-

, mlllatlOn or 
------------------------ witD\.""""'" 

usnal, and witbout having sent word to the Commons. The consequence of 
which W8S that there was no House at the proper time; and that the Managers, 

, under these circuIDstauecs. had felt it necessary to go into tbe Hall without a 
House having been previously formed. Mr. Pitt moved that tbe House 
approved their conduct; which 'Was agreed to nem. CO'fI."-" Histo'1 of the 
Trial ~. Part vi., p. 4a. • 
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1793. strictly the rule. of not. intelTUpting the' examinations of 
witnesses'; . reminding them that, while the examination in 
chief was being conducted by one party, the duty of the 
other party was to wait till it should be closed, before com­
mencing their cross-examination; and· that, during the 
examination of a witness by one party, 'no question what­
ever should be interposed by the other.. Mr. Burke ex­
pressed, on the part of the. Managers, their willingness to 
adhere to j;he ~egulation, and. at the sam~ time stated that he 
:was authorised by the Commons, with a view to expedite the 
trial, to consent to proceed with it during the ci~cuit 'of the 
judges, should the Court desire to do so. The Counsel for 

Disaffecf.i.on Mr. Hastings then examined witnesses to prove the disaffec-
~~ , 
:Begums. tion of the Begums to the Company s government. Lieut.. 

lIip;h esti­
mation 
or Mr. 

~~in 

Shuldham, Col. Duff and Majol," L-qmsden, were called. They 
each of them spoke also to the high estimation in. which 
Mr. Hastings was heid in' India fo~ ability in' his govern­
ment and for personal amiability. The. examinations were 
conducted by Mr. Dallas, -and. the cross-examinations by 
Mr. BUrke and Mr. Sheridan. 

Major The Court was then ad;ourned to the 12th of April; on Lumsden's a 
evidenoe. which day Major Lumsden was further' examined with 

respect to the insurrection in qude; . and Mr. J ohnW omb­
Mru' :W0'!lb- well, formerly paymaster, treasurer and I).uditor of accounts 
we sen- ' 
dence. in Lucknow, gave evidence respecting the disaffection of the 

Begums. He was minutely cross-examined by Mr. Burk~ 
respecting the salaries and pensions paid to English gentlemen 
in Oude from the Nawab's treasury.· 

.. The observations in the "History of the TriaI,"-in which, it must be 
admitted, a very decided partiality towards Mr. Hastings' cause, is shown at 
this period of the proceedings-on the subject of Mr. Burke's cross-examina­
tion o~ Mr. W ombwelJ, are as ~ollows, .. Question succeeded question, until 
the patIence of every human bemg present appeared to be entirely exhausted. 
many of the Lor~ showed strong signs o~ impatience, and the Archbishop of 
York declared WIth a very strong and pomted emphasis; that the conduct of 
:Mr. Burke WII8 iUiberal."-Parl v., p. 47. According to Gurney's ~port, the 
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On the 18th of April; Mr. Auriol, who had been secretary 1793-
to the. Council of. Calcutta,. was examined· respecting the EDIIllnJ>o 

distresses of ,the Company's Government in India, which ~~g[ Mr. 

occasioned the demands of assistance made by Mr. Hastings 
on Cheyt Sing and ~e.Begums of .Oude. Capt. Syme and 
l\Ir. Paxton were called. to prove-:-theone~ the death of 
Mr. Scott, of.T~nda., in Oude, who. could have spoken to the 
hostile intentions of the Begums; the other, the return of 
l\fajor Macdonald. ,to .India, who .had be~n ready to give 
evidence on .the same subject. Mr. Wright, accountant of 
the {ndia. H{)use~ and Mr. H1l:dson, of the India House, were 
shortly questioned on special points of the evidence. V Brious 
documents· were then handed in by the Counsel and read. 

On the 20th of April, the. l05th day of the trial, Mr. PIu":, ~~l' 
mer put in numerous JettelS relating ~ the Begum Charge, don~v" 
extracts from many of which had been read by the Managers. 
Onthe tender of a. report of Sir John Shor~then a mem- ~~rmont.o 

ber of the Council .of Calcutta, Bnd at this time successor to ~.::,~ 
. Lord Cornwallis ~ Govef1:l~r.General-the object of which 

was to prove that,by the.constitution of the Mogul empire, 
a jagir is in its DSlture resumable, Mr. Burke objected to the 
admission of the paper, as the production .of cc one of the 
persons concerned in fabricating the Defence .of Mr. Hast­
ings" ;. and further, because he ~ight and ought to have 
been· examined on- tb,e:subject in Pf?rs.on, before he left the 
country f.or his' government. Mr. Plumer answered the 
objection., The Lord Chanc!ell.or decided that,the evidence 
~a admissible., Earl Stanhope observed that, though the 
Managers .objected to the evidence .of Sir John Sh.ore, on 
the ground .of his being.an acc.omplice .of Mr. Has~ing8, they 

observation of the Ar~hbishop ';'BS occasioned by a question pnt by Mr. Burke 
to Mr. Wombwell; of which he said :-""1 canDot help thinking that the 
qnestion tends to lead the witness to impeach himself. The question is illiberal." 
-:-:-MS. ;Report; lJub die, p. 82. The question had reference to pensions supposed 
.to be Je(leived by :E~lishmen. in Qude. 
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1793. lia·J themselves called him as a witness. :Mr. Burke, in 
replying, denied that "any witness in India must be con-. 
sidered in any other light than what the lawyers call wit:' 

Admission riesses taken from the enemy's camp." The last head of 
ortheaffi· .' h d b' . b h davits "": eVIdence was broug t forwar to meet an 0 uectIon y t e 
rompanYlIIg . .' . 
rn~,~ Managers to the admission of the affidavits accompanying 
tive. Mr. Hastings' Narrative of the Insurrection in Benares, as 

evidence, on the ground that statements in them implicated 
Saadat Ali,. th~ treasurer to the BeguWt'. After some re­
sistance from Mr. Burke, tIle reading of the papers was 
proceeded with, when Mr. Wyndham, one of the Managers, 
protested against their reception as evidence, as being 
directed to the question of the guilt or innocence of Saadat 
Ali. A. discussion ensued, in which Sir Gilbert Elliot 
took a 'leading part. In the end, the Lord Chancellor 
stated that the Judges, who had heard the debate upon the 
evidence, agreed with him that it was not admissible. Ac­
cordingly, the whole of th~ evidence which had been adduced 
on this' head was ordered to be struck out. 

Mr.Pl!'me!'s On the 25th of April" the l06th day of the trial, 
Bummmgln 
f:!e:::o~~ Mr. Plumer commenced his summing of the evidence given 
Charge. in on the part of the Defendant on the second Article of 

the Charge, relating to the Begums of Oude. His speech 
was continued through the 30th of the same month, and the 
2d and 6th of May. It is the third of the series included 
in the present volume. 

~;J:~1~1 On the 9th of May, the llOth day of the trial, 
~h~e~[h.7th. Mr. Dallas opened the evidence in defence on the sixth, 
~~i!t:! a part of the seve.nth and the fourteenth, Articles of the 

Charge, imputing bribery and corruption, and occupied that 
and the three following court.days-,·iz., the 16th, 17th, 
anel 24th of May-in the delivery of his speech.- On the 

• This Speech of Mr. Dallas is highly praised by Mr. Adolpht18. He 
characterises it 88 "a speech of animated eloquence and powerful argumenta­
tion, not unmixed with polished iron,. and cutting sarcasm I" and adds that, 
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second day, the 16th of May, after the Peers ~~ 
.Westminster Hall and returned to their Chamber, the~ 
10\ving petition from Mr. Hastings "'as pre5ented to them 
by Lord Walsingham:-

.. That your Petitioner once more makes his appeal, in the hope that it ~r .• Hao~ 
will be his last, to the justice of youl-' Lordships; that he ·forbears to ~r: ::~~ 
state the too well·known hardships of his case, or the grounds on which ~= ~~th 
he most solemnly asserts his belief, that, unless your Lordships, feeling Ma,y. i7113. 
as he feels the enormity of the" delays which have attended his long-pro-
tracted trial, shall resoll'e it to be brought to a conclusion during this 
Session of Parliament, it will not, in the ordinary and permitted course, 
be ended, until the judgment of another year shall have added to the 
chances of its being concluded by other causes than the legal verdict of 
your Lordships, which, your Lordships have been told by one of the 
Managers of the prosecution, must inevital.ly fall. with infamy either on 
the head of your Petitioner, or on those who have consumed 80 many 
years of your Lordships' attendance in labouring to prove their allegations 
against him. That; although it may not be possible for your Petitioner 
to know the time which may be destined to the duration of the present 
session of Parliament, yet he cannot be insensible to the reports which 
he has heard of the short term which is asssigned to it; and even its 
'uncertainty is to him a source of continual alarm. That, as an humble 
individual, impressed with the firmest conviction of your Lordships' 
justice and humanity. he implores your LQrdships to grant him that grace, 
which, as a British subject, he might demand as his undoubted birth-right, 
the benefit of undenied Bnd un delayed justice; and that your Lordships 
will not leave him a single exception to the rest of his fellow-subjects of 
this kingdom, whose hearts attest the wisdom of its constitution, and 
who boast of the blessings which they enjoy under it; blessings in which 
he cannot be said to participate, who, having been the subject of a 
criminal prosecution 4uring six years, is yet doomed to liJlger out his 
life in the same unmerited state of depression, suspense, and (but for the 
breath of public opinion, and the hopes of life sustaining him) of universal 
and perpetual ignominy • 

.. Your Petitioner, therefore, moat humbly and fervently prays your 
Lordships, on whos!, justice and honour he places his firmest reliance, to 
adopt such means as to your Lordships' wisdom may seem best calculated 
'to accomplish the end which your Petitioner so anxiously solicits, namely, 
a close of this long-depending trial during the present session of Pa,r. 
liament. . (Signed) .. WARREN HASTINGS.". 

" no momcLt was wasted on useless dissertation or -rhetorical embellishment, 
but ~l :as c~ose, well defined reasoni?g. strongly combined and judiciously 
appbed. -HlSoory of England ; Vol. VI., p. 191 • 

• Printed in the" History of the Trial;" Part vi., P. 60. 
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}793. Immediately on the close of Mr. Dallas' speech Mr. 
~r. !last- Hastings rose to beg of the Court that the length of their 
mg8 address. • h d d fJi· • 
toth!,Court, sittmgs mIg: t be exten e ; 0 ermg so to contract the 
oifenng to ~ . 

~;~~:, his evidence to be produced in his Defence on the Articles of 
i:: May, Presents opened by Mr. Dallas, and on the remaining 

Article of Contracts, that, by foregoing the advantage of his 
Counsel's observations on them, the rest of his Defence 
might be concluded within a period of -three days. The 
following are the terms of his address :-

"My Lords, I venture to solicit the attention of your Lordships to 
the situation in which this trial at present stands. 

" I hope for your Lordships' indulgence, in requesting to be allowed 
, such further time in the course of each day's days sitting as may enable 
me to bring the remainder of my Defence, if no interruptions intervene, 
within -the probable period of three days more. . 

"I hope, by the means of such indulgence, to conclude my evidence on 
the Article now under consideration within the compass of one day. 
I am informed that the observations of my Counsel upon it will only 
occupy another, and the gentleman upon my right hand (Mr. Law) is 
willing to· waive any observations, that the Defence may be the sooner 
closed. In that case, one -day will be sufficient for this Article. The 
abridged evidence with which I mean to trouble your Lordships on the 
only remaining Article, that of Contracts, may be comprised within the 
space of one day more. I am willing to forego the benefit of a more de­
tailed Defence, in order to enable the Managers for the Commons fully to 
conclude their reply within the cour. of the present session; an ex­
pectation which, I trust, I do not unreasonably entertain, in this advanced 
period of a trial that has been so many years depending. 

" I am well aware of the disadvantage to which I lubject my Defence 
on this ~icle, by leaving the evidence unstated and un.applied, to make 
out its own efl'ect; and it· is with reluctance that I deprive myself of the 
benefit of those talents which have been so ably displaYl'd on the former 
parts of my Defence; for it is to those talents, aided by the zeal and cordial 
afl'ection which have animated them to their best exertions, that I am 
now indebted for the hope and assurance, which I confidently entertain, 
that, though I should not live to receive the sanction of your Lordships' 
acquittal, my name at least shall not descend blasted with infamy to pos­
terity, but be recorded with those of the many other victims of false 
opinion, some of higher worth, none of better intentions, who have done 
service to the States which employed them, and been requited with un. 
thankfulness and persecution. 

" My Lords, I consi~er the resolution which I have taken B8 II sacrifice; 
. . , 
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and I make it with the greater cheerfulness, as it may, alid must in "some 179iJ. 
degree, pr~ve no less an accommodation to your Lordships' time than the 

- means- if your Lordships shall so permit it-of obtaining my own de­
liverancet'roma state of suspense which is become almost insupportable.". 

Mr. Burke, in his observations on this proposal, cautioned Mr. Burke's - aosw('z. 
Mr. Hastings not to omit to make his Defence complete. 
He .left it to the Court to consider the propriety of the 
terms Mr. Hastings had used, implying ingratitude in the 
Commons for services he had rcndered to his country. 
Mr. Hastings was at liberty to. narrow the bounds of his 
Defence to any ~imit it might pleaw him; but a suspicion 
might arise whether, in doing so, he had it not in view, in 
case of being found guilty on the charges, to insinuate that 
the testimony he had withheld might, if produced,-have 
cleared his chara~ter. Mr. Fox, in a short address, justified 
his colleague in these remarks. 

. On the 25th of May, the 114th day of the trial, numerous Docurn~n. 
documents were handed in by Mr. Law as evidence in t'Jc;:n. relating to 
support of Mr. Dallas' opening of the Charge relating to ~=;.f 
Presents. Mr. Auriol, the late Secretary to the Council of Jbamina­

Calcutta, was called in and examined by the Counsel; and ~"r~ A~I. 
was afterwards cross·examined at great length by Mr. 
Burke. The pertinacity with which the Manager plied this Interrup-

• . • "L. • _ L' • 1" p. • tion !'f tho WItness Wltu question wter question, to e lClt lacts on whICh ArchbIShop' 
. of York of 

he appeared unable to give evidence, occasioned an unusual the "!"""" 
eIaDlllla-

interruption to the proceedings by an outbreak of indig:.tion. 
nation from his Grace the Archbishop of York. Mr. Burke' 

• had asked Mr. Auriol whether, while he was in India, he had 
heard a rumour of a present having heen made to Mr. 
Hastings from Raja K;elleram; to which the witness had 
answered that he did not recollect ·to have heard such a 
}·uIDour. Mr. Burke was endeavouring by further questions 
to- obtain a. more" satisfactory answer, but was stopped by 

•. GUIDey's Report, MS.; and .. HistOry of the Trial;" Part vi.. p. 63. 
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1!..:3. an observation from the -Lord Chancellor, that thewitm'l's 
had already stated that he knew nothirig of the report. Mr. 
Burke replied that he wanted" to refresh his memory whether 
he does not know something of it; and it appears there are 
several circumstances concerning it which he does know." 
The A.rchbishop, sympathising with the witness, exclaimed 
" Upon my word, my Lords, this proceeding is intolernble I 
The gentleman is treated at your bar as a pick-pocket; 
and· DO gentlema~ has been treated there as a gentleman. 
If Robespiel're and Marat were in the Managers' box, they 
could Dot say anything more inhuman and' more against aU 
sentiments of honour and moralit,y than what we have. been 
often used to since this trial commenced." Mr. Burke 
rightly declined to notice the interruption, saying, "I hope 
your Lordships do not think I am bound so much as to 
kno\v or suppose that I have heard one word of what was 
uttered. I forget it, and pass by immediately to the 
business."· The continuance of the cross-examination, how­
ever, on the subject of the rumour referred t9, was objected 
to by both Earl Stanhope and Lord Somers. 

Evidence or A.fter Mr. Auriol had been. allowed to retire, Mr. 'Vood-
Mr. Wood- l' b .. f M H' 1 h • :''!\l:;:lative man, a re abve y marrIage 0 r. astmgs, nne w 0, m 
~~1-s conjunction with M.r. Francis Sykes and Mr. Waller, was 

his attorney in England, was called by MI'. I .. aw to disprove 
a statement of the Managers, that Mr. Hastings lmd amal!sed 
a fortune of 238,0001. whilst in India. He stated, that, 
though remittances to that amount had been made by 
Mr. Hastings, the greater part of them were for other per­
fOns, and that the total· sum of Mr. Hastings' own money 
lleld by them in June, 1785, n,t the time of his return from 
India, was 72,463l., and in January, 1786, it was 65,322l.t 

.. Gurney's Report, :alS., p. 109. 
t Ibid., p. 12S. 
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MI'. _Halhed and Mr. Wright were shortly examined rc- 1793. 
specting an account" of llayment for salaries of puudits Closel!fevl. 

dence In 
employed in composiug the code of Hindu Jawt', and 0. Ebte'1?"~;ofn 
ment of expenses of :Mr. Hastings in the office of Governor l'r\>sCllto. 

Genel·aI. The evidence for the Defence was then declnred 
to he closed on the Charge of Presents. 

Mr. Plumer then informed the Court that Mr. Hastings Abridge. 
. . ment of en-

wah'ed his right of commenting by his Counsel on the t~::!' on 
evidence which had been produced on that Charge, and that ~':.'ii~~::.rth 
he wou~d immediately proceed to bring forward the abridged 
evidence in defence upon the last-remaining ~harge-the 
fourta Article-relating to Contracts. Mr. Plumer occupied 
the remainder of the day in handing in documents in refer-
ence to the opium contract 

On the 27th of May, Mr. Plumer completed the docu-~~. 
mentary evidence on the opium contract. He then called 
:Mr. Wright to give evidence on the same part of the ~~d-Wri::[ 
Charge. Mr. Burke was interrupted by Earl Stanhope in I~terrub ""E I 

tlon y ar 
his cross-examination of the wi I ness Yi hilst questioning him on :~!~= of 

the contents of the Company's books and correspondence. iiX::ma.. 
His Lordship dedared -" It was perfectly impossible to 
permit, day after day, parol evidence to be given of matters 
of fact that are in the books: the books themselves ought to 
be produced." Mr. B~rkc, hefore answering the objection Mr. Burke', 

- remon-
to bis examination, connnented wit.h- warmth on the in- B~rance. 

formality of an individual member of the Court reproving 
the Managers for their conduct-" On the part of the 
:Managers and on the part of the Commons of Great Britain, 
we demand in this place of your Lord:!hips, that any remarks 
that shall be made, tending to censure and admonish the 
Managers at this har, shall be the acts of this House j to 
which Court, and not to any of 'the individuals of it, we 
imagine ourselves, while we stand here as suitors, to be 
suhject :-not subject to animadversion or reproof, but subject 
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1793. to the orders and directions of the Conrt for the conduct of 
the proceedings; reproof we are subjected to by none, but by 
our own constituents only. And I mnst beg leave, once for 
all, to observe to your Lordships that nothing can tend to 
lead more to unpleasantness and disagreeable altercations ' 
with individual members of this House-which I am sure 
your Lordships would wish to avoid as much-as we do-than 
noble Lords making the kind of observation that is made by 
the noble Lord, and some other late observations made with 
regard to -the Managers in this place. I must, after having 
heard this, and wishing never to hear such in future, desire, 
according to the orderly proceedings of Parliament, tliat, if 
any remarks are made, they shall be suggested to your Lord­
ships, who preside in this Court, or, if debate is required, 
that you adjourn to the chamber '{)f Plld."liament, and take 
the sense of this Court; because, by this Court alone we 
are to be guided." Earl Stanhope immediately moved to 

Decision or adlourn to the chamber of Parliament. On 'the return of 
the Court. " 

the Court, the Lord Chancellor announced the decision of 
the House that it was not competent for the Managers to 

, put the question proposed by Mr. Burke. 
Observ&- Mr.'Fox,- 1.·n reference to this J'udl!lllent, desired that the 
tionsby ~ 

Mr. Fox. principle of examination it enforced should be applied 
impartially; for that it had been neglected in the examina­
tion in chief, that day. Mr. Burke, in his remarks upon the 
decision of the House, stated that the Managers submitted 
to it as such wit.hout acquiescing in it as a principle.· 

The bullock Mr; Plumer resumed with the documentary evidence 
contract. ' 
Mr, Auriol's relating to the bullock contract. Mr. Dallas followed with 
agency. that relating to the appointment of Mr. Auriol as agent 

, • MS. Report, BUb die, p. 48. In the "History of the Trial," this incident 
is erroneously referred to the proceedings at a later period of the day. See 
Part vi., p. 66.' 
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for supplying provisions to the Presidency of Madra..q, He ,1793. 
then called Mr. Auriol. to, give personal evidence on the Croas-eI .. 

b· I' L~~ • f h 1 f hi mination or same su ~ect. n JUSLlllcation 0 tee oseness 0 s cross- Mr. AurioL 

examination of this witness-who held .also the appointment 
of secretary to the Council at Calcutta-Mr. Burke stated 
that he had been called by the Defendant; that he was more-
over an interested party, and on that account it was necessary 
to examine him with more than usual care and attention. 

On the 28th of May. the 116th day of the trial. Mr. Dallas )lr.BeIli·s 

• d 'd el' Mr B lli' agency. gave 18 ocumentary eVl ence"l' atlve to . e s agency . 
for the supply of stOres and provisions for the garrison of 
Fort William. ¥r. Hudson was examined to prove docu­
ments produced to sho\v the propriety of certain Ilppoint­
m~nts made by Mr. Hastings ; and Major Scott was called 
to prove that ·Mr. Belli was now in India. In reference to 
this latterevid~nce, Mr. Burke observed that he thought it 
singular, if Mr.' Belli had been in England since the com­
mencement of the trial. that he had not been examined; 
adding. that their Lordships would make their own infer­
ence upon it. . Mr. Wright, auditor of accounts in the 
India House. was called to explain the difference between 
siccllt aJid current .rupees, in reference to an account ot 
Mr. Auriol. 

Mr. Law then stated that. the Managers having given in Test!-
'd d h h •• • d b h momals or eVl ence ocuments to s ow t e oplIDon entertame, y t e ~:~":not 

natives of .India of, Mr. Hastings' government, and another ~~~H.:t 
setting forth certain consequences that were suppose~ to ings. 

have ensued from the mal-administration of the country 
of the Nawab of Oude, he proposed to give in evidence 
other document.s-the representations of natives of India­
expressing a very different sense of the character of Mr. 
Hastings' government. Mr. Burke questioned whether tes­
timonials 'to -Character were admissible in lit court of justlce: 
Mr.·Law:c1aimed their admission on the ground of consent 
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1793. already giv:m by Mr. Burkc·, as well as fl'om consiueration 
of their having becn frcquently commented on. by him, and 
that he had himself promised to produce them. Mr. BLII·kc 
answered, that the Managers had no objection to the admis. ' 
sian of the testimonials; although he had considered it his 
duty to notice the difficulty the Court might feel in receiving 
them. The papers were accordingly read j' and Mr. Burke 
questioned MI'. Hudson as to the manner in which tIle 
testimonials had been procured. This terminated the evi-

De
Clo,seorthe dence for the Defence j and, as Mr. Hastings had waived tIle .ence. 

Mr.Hnst. 
ing's ad· 
dress, 28th 
MaY,17113. 

advantage of his Counsel's summing of the Articles on 
Presents, and of both' the ~pening and summing on the 
Article of Contracts, his case was now completely closed. 
But, before the adjournment, Mr. Hastings addressed the 
Court, making a solemn protestation of his innocence, and 
praying for the prosecution of the trial to its close during 
the present session. The address appears to have been read 
from a written paper. It was in the following terms:­

" My Lords, my evidence is now brought to its close. 
" Sufficient has, I trust, been already done for every immediate purpose 

of necessary justification. And it is not, my Lords, from any appre­
hension which I entertain lest any defects of this kind should exist, or 
from a vain opinion that they could' be supplied by me, that I present 
myself once more to your Lordships' attention. No, my Lords; I leave 
the proof which I have offered to its just and effectual operation, without 
any degree of doubtful anxiety for the issue. But, my Lords, I rise for 
a purpose which no external testimony can adequately supply-to convey 
to your Lordships' minds a satisfaction which honour~le minds may 
possibly expect, and which the solemn asseverations of a man impressed 

'with a due sense of the sacred .obligations of religion and honour can 
alone adequately convey. 

"I know that the actual motives of human conduct are often dark 
and mysterious, and sometimes inscrutable. As far as the subject is 
capable of farther ascertainment, and the truth can be sealed by a still 
more solemn attestation, it is a duty which innocence owes to itself to 
afford it. 

• See Mr. Burke's Speech of the 21s& of A!>ril, 1789; VoL ii., p. 5 •. 
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" In the presence, therefore, of that Being from whom no secrets are 1';93. 
hid, 1 do, upon a full review and sorutiny of my past life, unequivocally 1I[ -}-to 

and conscientiously declare that, in the administration of that trust of in~:. ~':i. 
government which was during so many years confided to me, I did in no t~:l~~~ 
instance intentionally sacrifice the iuterests of my country to any private 
views of ~y own personal advantage; that, according to my best skill 
and judgment, I invariably promoted the essential interests of my 
employers, the happiness and prosperity of the people committed to my 
charge, and the welfare and honour of my country; and at no time with 
more entire qevotion of mind and purpose to these objects than during 
that period in which my accusers have endeavoured to represent me as 
occupied and engrossed by the b3.se pursuit of low, sordid and inter-
dicted, emol'lment. 

« It may be expected of me to say something in addition to what you 
have heard from Mr. Woodman respecting the actual state and extent of 
my fortune • 

. " He has proved the total amount of my remittances from India 
during the period of my govemment, and that the balance of my fortune 
when last adjusted, shortly after my return to England in 1785, amounted 
to little more than 65,0001 . 

.. I protest, in the name of Almighty God, that I made no remittances 
to England during that period which were not made to him and my 
other attorneys joined in trust with him; that I had no other persons in 
England or-Europe in trust of my pecuniary concems; and that his 
account of those remittances is accurately true, according to my best 
means of knowledge and belief upon the subject; and that, including 
those remittances, 1 at no time possessed a fortune which exceeded at its 
most extended amount the Bum of )00,0001.; and in this calculation I 
would be understood to comprehend every kind and description of pro­
perty whatsoever; that, at the period of my return to England, my 
,fortune did not exceed the balance already mentioned to have been then, 
in ,the hands of my attorneys by more than the sum of 25,0001., 
amounting, on the largest calculation, to an aggregate sum of between 
80,0001. and 90,0001.; and all the property which I possess stands 
pledged, at the present moment, for the discharge of such debts as I 
have contracted since the commencement of' this long depending trial. 
These are the enormous fruits of thirteen years of imputed rapacity 
and peculation, and of upwards ofthh-ty years of active and important 
service! 

" My Lords, I know not how I can more fully and explicitly disavow 
every purpose of appropriating to my own benefit any.of the various 
sums received and applied by lI!e to the Company's ser"ice, in moments 
of extreme peril and exigency, than iIi the very terms in which I 
expressed such disavowal at your 'Lordships' bar, in the month of 

• June,1791. I again repeat that • I solemnly, and with a !Jure 

VOL. IlL c 
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conscience, affirm that I never did harbour such a thought for a single 
instant.' 

" If, in addition to the proof upon your Lordships' table of the justice 
and necessity of the measures which are the subjects of the two first 
Articles of the Charge, it can be required of me by an act of solemn and 
sacred attestation, on my part, to vouch the truth of my Defence in these 
particulars,' and to vindicate my character from the unfounded charge of 
malice, alleged to have· been entertained by me against the immediate 
objects of those measures, I once more call God to witness that no 
motive of personal erimity, no views of personal advantage to myself or 
others, induced the adoption on my part of any of those measures for 
which I am at this day criminally questioned ;. but that, in every instance, 
I acted under the immediate and urgent selise of public duty, in obedi­
ence to the irresistible demands of public safety, and to vindicate the 

. just rights of the empire committed to my care against those who, in a 
moment of its greatest peril, were engaged in hostile confederacy to 
destroy it. ' 

" I have no doubts but that, upon a fair review of all the existing cir­
cumstances, and the means of information then before me, no lavish or 
improper expenditure of public money will be found to have taken place, 
in respect to the contracts formed during my administration. 

" For the prudence and success of the regulations adopted and pursued, 
in respect to the control and management of the public revenue, I trust 
I may be allowed to appeal to the flourishing condition which the Com­
pany's provinces enjoyed during the period of my government, and 
which has been, from the continued operation .of the same cause, in 
a course of progressive improvement to the present hour. 

" I know that your Lordships .will, in your own enlightened and im­
partial wisdom, justly estimate the difficulties by wliich I was surrounded 
during a long and arduous period of public service-that you will allow 
for all the embarrassments arising from the long counteraction of my 
associates in the government, for errors resulting from the honest im­
perfection of my own judgment, from occasional deference to the coun­
sels of others, and from the vwying sense of expediency which at 
different periods governed my own. 

"Your Lordships well know that the imperious exigencies of public 
affairs often present to the servants of the state no alternative but the 
painful choice of contending evils. 

~' The transcendant and peremptory duty of my situotion was to devise 
and to procure the necessary means of public safety. Feeling, as I did, 
the exigencies of the Government as my own, and every pressure lIpon 
them resting with equal weight upon my mind; besieged, as at some 
times I was, by the hourly and clamorous importunities of every de­
partment of the military service, goaded at others with the cries of our 
then fBJDished settlements on the coast of Coromandel; should I have, 
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deserved well, I do not say of my country, but of the common cause of 1793. 
su1fering hu~anity, i~ I had punctilio~sly ~tood aloof from those ~eans Mr."H.:t­
of supply whICh gratitude or expectatIOn enabled me to appropnate to ing's ad-

the instant relief of such d~tresses 'I ' . ~'l~~ 
.. The whole tenor and conduct of my public life is now, my Lords, 

before you. It has undergone a scrutiny of such extent and severity as 
can find no llarallel in former trmes, and I trust will, in many of the 
peculiar circumstances which have characterised and distingui"hed this 
trial, leave no example to the future. 

" My Lords, I: have now performed the most solemn duty of my life, 
and with this I close my Defence. ' 

.~ I may now, I trust, assuredly consider myself as arrived at the 
,threshold of my deliverance-at that period when nQ delay and pro­
crastination can prevent the speedy and final termination of the 
proceedings now depending before your ~ordships. 

to After such recent and acceptable proof, on the part of your Lordships, 
of your earnest disposition to accelerate the conclusion of this trial, it 
would betray an unwarranted and unbecoming distrust of your justice to 
oJl'er' any request' to yOUl' Lordships on this subject, had I not other 
causes of apprehension. At this momentous and awful crisis, ignorant 
of what may be in the minds of others, I am compelled to obviate every 
possible, even though improbable, danger. . 

.. In the short address which I 'made to YOUl'Lordships on Friday last, 
1 stated that I should waive the observations of my Counsel on the evi­
dence of the Article then before the Court; and both the opening and 
application of the evidence on the next; and that I made these sacrifices, 
well aware of their importance, for the express purpose of all'ording 
ample time to my prosecutors, during what remained of the probable 
term of this session, to make their reply . 

.. If the Managers for the Commons had been equally desirous of ac­
celerating the close of this trial-and I had a right to suppose that they 
were so, from their repeated declarations to that eJl'ect-what I had said 
might have been construed as an oJl'er of mutllal accommodation; but, 
'my Lords, it was received with resentment, and answered with reproach, 
and worse, insinuation. 
, "What other conclusion can I put upon this conduct but that which is 

conveyed to my ears from every qua:rter--that they mean to endeavour 
to prevail on 'yOUl' Lordships to adjourn over this trial to its seventh 
year, that one more may be given them to prepare their replies 'I I do 
not know that this is their intention, but I may be allowed 1;0 suppose 
it; ,and, though impressed with the firmest confid,nce of the just and 
favourable disposition of your Lordships, I cannot but dread the event 
of a question in which my rights may be at issue with such opponents 
as the Managers of this prosecution, speaking in the name of the House 
of Commons, and of all the Commons of Great Britain. 

C 2 
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"'fo meet such an attempt, if made, I humbly oft'er to yow' Lordships 
the following arguments, most anxiously recommending them to your 
consideration. 

" In an address to a court of British Peers, I ca~not oft'end by pleading 
the rights which I possess as a British subject-rights which are assured 
to me, in common with all my fellow subjects of this realm, by the 
pledges of ancient charters, and the sanction of an oath the most solemn 
that can be tendered or taken by man. My Lords, I claim the perform­
ance of that sacred promise, in all its implied obligations that justice 
be administered to me, and that it be administered now. 

" In the long period of another year, I may be numbered with those 
of my noble judges whom I have, with sorrow, seen drop oft', year 
after year; and, in the aggravation of the loss which I have sustained' 
by their deaths, I may thus lose the judgment of their survivors by my 
own.* 

" To the precepts and sanctions of the law I join the rights which are 
derived from the practice oC it. 

" In the other courts oC this kingdom, their criminal process is limited 
in its duration by express and positive regulations. On this high court, 
charged with other various and important duties, the wisdom of our 
ancestors has imposed no restraint but the rule of honour, and to that 
honour I make this my last 'appeal, humbly praying that, if, in the 
course of this hard and long exterided trial, I have conducted myself with 
the most patient and respectful submission, and borne all the aggra­
vating circumstances of it with a tranquillity of mind which nothing but 
a consciousness of integrity and an equal reliance, on your ultimate Jus­
tice could ,have supported, I may obtain from your Lordships this only 
grace-that your Lordships will order the trial, now past its legal pro­
cess, to continue to its final conclusion during the present session."t 

Doth Mr. Durke and Mr. Fox remarked on the reflections 
on the conduct of the Managers contained in this nlldress ; 
nnd solemnly denied that the protraction of the trial could 
be justly attributed to them, or that they at aU desired nny 
further delay in the proceedings. Their Lordships then 
adjourned to their chamber. 

The further prosecution of the b·i:lJ. was adjourned by 
thc Peers to the following Wednesday, the 6th of June; 

• From a scheme, printed in the" IIistory of the Tt'ial," of the changes which 
had takt'n plaee in the Peerage sinee the commencement of the impeachment, 
it apprars that lui many as 58 hnd died; 8 of the Scottish Peers were changed; 
and 15 new Peers had been creawd.-!'art V., p. 69. 

t Gume,'s Ueport, lHS.\" History of the Trial;" Part VI., p. GO. 
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but, -on their message to this effect being communicated to 1793. 
the House of Common::!, Mr. Burke rose and objected to Mot\o;nr 

• ' Mr. BurkB 
the day fixcd, as beJDg too early to enable the Managers l~o~: or 

to l)repnre their reply to the Defence. He proceeded to f.,~'i~~i:y 
I • f h cr f 1\,," H • . b d into the comp am 0 t e euorts 0 J.ur. astmgs to excIte y a - conduct 

dresses to the Lords an indignation against the House of)f~ 
Commons. He then refer~ed to the expressions used by the 
Archbishop of York, during the proceedings on the 25th of 
May, and, challenging an inquiry into the conduct of the 
lIanngers' during the trial, he proposed an investigation 
by a committee of the whole House. Mr. Pitt re.commended 
the substitution of a select committee for the proposed com-
mittee of the whole House; and, after observations by Mr. Fox, 
in support of Mr. Burke's complaint of the unjust insinua- Nomination 

, " • oraaelect 
tions thrown upon the Managers, It. select commIttee was committ.ee. 

agreed to and at once nominated. 
Mr. Baker Jheu drew the attention'of the Ho~se to what !:'~'i:'.!in 

he termed a gross libel, J>ublished in the cc W orId" of the World." 

preceding day, and in which It charge of the most scandalous 
nature against the Managers bad been inserted. He alluded 
to the pUblication of the observations of the Archbishop 0' 
York, published by the periodical referred to. On repre­
sentation being made by a member of the House that the 
Archbishop was at that time in severe affliction from the 
death of his daughter, Mr. Baker waived his -motion for'the 
present; although Mr. Burke pressed the prosecution of the 
publisher of the paper. -

On the following day, the 29th of May, II. deputation from Deputation 
_ .' from the 

the Commons appeared ~t the bar of the House of Lords, t£o~~ 
to state that, as the 'evidence on the trial of Mr. Hastings ~:r..'!:t 
'was very voluminous, the Managers were compelled to de- ~rtJ.[DQ 
mand a later' adjournment of the proceedings, in order to 
prepare their reply. . C?n the motion of Eaa Stanhope, the 
Lords appointed the lOth of June for resuming the trial. 



]793. On the following day, the 30th of May, Mr. Townsend 
Report of brought up the report of the committee appointed by the 
Committee H fC .. h f'h" h on the. state ouse 0 ommons to eXaUllne mto testate 0 t e Impeac -
of the lDl- Th h' b d . pcach,!nent. ment. e report avmg een rea ,a motIOn was made to 

desire the Lords to allow the Managers II> furiher delay in 
Vote.'C?r making their reply. After a statement by Mr. Fox, injusti-
JeqUInng • 
~~~e- fication of the conduct of the impeachment by the Managers, 

,rJ.:l~ofthe and in explanatio~ of the causes of the protraction of the 
trial,the motion was agreed to by a vote of 87 against 42. 

~~~::..t~ But a simple resolution o~ the part of the House of Com­
~~r;'J:,"rt mons to request the Lords to postpone the proceedings was 
:!"rh~te not alone satisfactory to Mr. Burke. He was still intent on 
~~":t. inducing the House to identifr itself with the character 

of the Managers, and to vindicate them, from reflections 
made both in Westmi~ster Hall and elsewhere on their 
conduct of the prosecution. He moved therefore "that 
the Man~ers be required to prepare and lay before the 
House the state of the proceedings in the trial of Warren 
Hastings, Esq., to relate the circumstances attending it, and 
to give their opinion and make observations on the same, in 
explanation of those circumstances." Although urged by 
both Mr. Dundas and Mf. Pitt to withdraw his motion, ItS 

calculated to embroil the House with the Lords, but who at 
the same time proxpised their support if he persisted in a 
division, Mr. Burke declined to follow their recommendation, 
and his motion was overruled by a vote of 7I against 67. 

On the 6th of June, ;Mr. Grey declared in the House 
his inability to execute the duty of replying to the De­
fence on the first, Charge, on the day appointed by the 

X::.~~~ the Lords, and moved that they be desired to postpone further 
~trn~ proceedings in the trial until the next session. Not­
the rial. withstanding that the motion was supported by Mr. Dundas, 

it was defeated by a majority of five. On the following day, 
however, Mr. Grey again protested his want of readiness to 
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undertake the reply on the -firot Charge. He offered his 1793. 
resignation ~s a Manager; and desired to be guided b'y 
instructipns from the. House.. On. the motion of Mr. Dundas, 
it was agreed by II considerable- majority to request the Lorus 
to put off the proceedings till a further day. 

On the 10th of Jnne, II petition in the following terms 
was presented by Lord Rawdon to the House of Lords, on 
the part of Mr. Hastings :~ 

"That your Petitioner: has been informed"with. equal surprise and ~ctillon~r 
concern, that a message has been presented to yoW' Lordships' Honse. in~ to~bo 
desiring further time beyond the day already appointed for the reply to ~:: ~~h 
the Defence made by your Petitioner to the impeachment now depending ,June, 179<1. 

against him. -
" That yoW' ~etitioner cannot but regard the further adjournment. now 

required on the part of his prosecutors; as derogatory to those rights 
which belong to him, in common with every subject of this realm; pe­
culiarlyinjurioua in this late stage of his long-depending trial; as war­
ranted by no on~ precedent or example to be found in the' records of 
Parliament, by no analogy to· be drawn from the procee~ings in other 
courts of criminal judicature. nor by any grqunds of :reason or justice 
applicable to the case now before yoW' Lordships • 

.. That your Petitioner humbly conceives ,that the time first allotted by 
yoW' Lordships was fully adequate to every purpose of just and :reason­
able preparation. supposing. what yoW' Petitioner is bound to believe. a 
due and proper attention to have been given by the Managers appointed 
by the House of Commons to the conduct of their own prosecution • 

. and fit and becoming diligence to have been employed, in order to 
have been in a condition to reply at the time appointed. 

" Eight years haye now elapsed since the accusation was first preferred 
against yoW' Petitioner. and it is now the sixth year since the commence­
ment of the present trial) - your Petitioner therefore apprehends he may 
be permitted to observe, that. in a case where so much of his life has been 
already consumt:d in a court of criminal justice. and so' little remains. 
according to every reasonable probability, each unnecessary moment of 
delay produces to him a deep and perhaps an irremediable injury. which, 
instead of receiving any palliation from the peculiar circumstances of the 
case, is. on the contrary. aggravated by them in the highest degree. 
. "After eight years of depending accusation and six years of continued 

trial, yoW' Petitioner humbly apprehends that. on a general view of the 
Bubject, it can scarcely be supposed that those who originally framed the 
Articles of accusation, and have since conducted the .trialo can be other­
wis~ t~ iIJ.t@ately acquainted with all the trsnsactions which form the 
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substance of it; and, however much the slow progress of the inquiry 
mAy have operated to the prejudice of your Petitioner, it must at least 
ho.,·e contributed, by II. gradual development of the case, to render every 
part of it more distinctly and thoroughly understood, and consequently 
the Proseclitors better prepared to reply, than could have happened under 
different circumstances. 

"But your Petitioner further begs leave to represent that, besides 
these reasons which operate against further delay in the present stage 
of a trial 'of such unparalleled duration, the nature of the evidence 
fumishes additional objections, the great bulk of the written testimony 
being drawn from sources equally accessible to both parties, namely, 
the records of the East India Company; and, consequently, those 
parts on which your Petitioner relies for his Dpfence having been 
equally kn~wn to the Honourable Managers, before they were pro­
dueed in evidence by your Petitioner, with those parts on which the 
Managers have relied in support of the prosecution. ' 

" Your Petitioner ventures to affirm, and for the truth of the asser­
tion he appeals to your Lordships' proceedings, that the written evidence 
produced from his own exclusive custody is confined within a very small 
compass, and occupies but a very few pages of your Lordships' printed 
Minutes; that the evidence of many, if not of most, of the witnesses 
called on the part of your Petitioner, was in a great measure known to 
the honourable Managers several years ago, some of them having been 
examined at the bar of the House of Commons before the Articles of 
impeachment were exhibited against your Petitioner; many by their own 
committee; and the depositions of others of them, relative to the matters 
concerning which they have been since orally eX&mined at your Lord­
ships' bar, having been long since printed and given in evidence by the 

. Managers themselves, in the course of the trial. ' 
"'l"hat your Petitioner begs leave 'to state, that. the evidence 

given in support of the Defence, however extensive it may be at 
the present moment, was not brought forward nor delivered at one 
time and in one mass; but in distinct and different parts, and in­
creased by gradual accumulation to its present state; and your Pet~­
tioner, therefore, submits that the Managers, in this respect, have 
had a very considerable portion of time to examine such evidence. 
That, in particular, the evidence relating to the first Article of Charge 
adduced by your Petitioner,' was printed and delivered on the 11 th of 
June, in the year 1792; that given on the second Article was in like 
manner printed and delivered, part on the 12th of .April. part on the 18th 
of the same month, and part on the 6th of May in the present year; and, 
all the testimony on the remaining Charges hav~ng been delivered by 'the 

'7th of June last, your Petitioner feels himself utterly at a loss to compre. 
hend with what colour of right the prosecutors, who have been for 80 

long a time in possession of so' great a part of the evidence, particularly 
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after a lapSe of twelve days of allowed preparation for reply, since the 1793-
final close of your Petitioner's Defence, can yet claim further time for -
h f h t· "t "th' di Petition of t e purpose 0 sue prepara IOn; Since 1 appears ,rom e prece ug Mr. Hast-

, statement, that the e"idence on the Defence of the first ~cle has bec;n Wr.::: :re 

in their hands a complete twelvemonth, and the next will ha"e been In Lords, llli,h 

their possession, according to the most probable computation, when they June, 1793. 

shall come to reply to it, upwards of twenty days, which is a term ex-
ceeding tbe duration of anyone criminal trial of this kingdom, of allowed 
leiality, even in its whole process. 

"That your Petitioner further begs leave to rellresent, that he has him­
self been constantly ready and attendl\Ilt upon the trial during the 
whole of its progress, nor has he e"er, in a single instance, solicited a 
moment's delay; that he has, on the contrary, alone and without the 
aid of . any co-operating application on the part of his prosecutors, pre;­
sented his humble but repeated petition for its acceleration; and, under 
these circumstances, he has taught himself confidently to expect that an 
address of an opposite nature could not possibly have been prepared on 
the flart of the prosecution. ' 

"That your Petitioner feels this application the more peculiarly inju­
rious to him, as, in order to expedite the close of the trial, he has waived 
his right'to the observations of his Counsel in summing up the evidence 
on the 6th, part of the 7th and 14th, Articles of the impeachment, and 
both the opening and the summing up on the Charge of Contracts; and 
this under the declared expectation, wbich he trusts was not unreasonable, 
tbat tbe reply would be thereby closed in the course of the present 
session. 

" If, however, contrary to the usage and practice which has obtained 
in every former in~tance of Parliamentary impeachment, and in repug­
nance to wbat 'your Petitioner conceives to be the established principle 
of criminal jurispmdence, the Managers of the present Charges sball con­
tinu~ to require further time for the purpose of their reply, and shall 
persist in deeming the several long and unexampled intervsls of prepara­
tion which your Petitioner has stated still insufficient to enable them fitly 
to execute the remainder of that duty which may he expected at their 
hands, and your Lordships, in deference to the urgency of such represen­
tations, shall, contrary to the earnest solicitations of your Petitioner, 
incline to grant them a further portion of time for this purpose, your 
Petitioner hopes that, in any event, such indulgence may be limited to a 
very early day, and t~at the Managers may then be required to proceed 

. with uninterrupted dispatch during a course of daily and continued 
sittings, till the reply upon all the subjects of this impeacbment shall 
be fully and finally concluded in the course of the present session of 
Parliament." 

After the reading of this petitioD, a debate ensued on the 
request for further delay sent ~p from the C?IDDlODSJ in pur-
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1 '193. suance of their vote of the 7th of June. Earl Stanhope 
Adjoum- moved that the trial be resumed on the following 1Vednesday, 
=tn°:SP: the 12th orthe month; and Lord Abingdon moved to post-
the rollow- • h fi d f h . f P I' f ing s-ion. pone It to t e rst ay 0 t e meetmg 0 ar lament a ter 

the prorogation, and that it then be prosecuted to a close 
within the session. But, on his Lordship agreeing to with­
draw his motion, an amendment proposed by Lord Grenville 
to Earl Stanhope's motion, that the trial be resumed on the 
second Tuesday in the next session of Parliament, was enrried 
by a vote of 48 to 2]. The reply of the Managers. there­
fore, was thus deferred to the year 1794. 
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The speecbes in the present volume have been printed 
from copie8 of Gurney's Reports in the hands of the Editor, 
collated with those preeened in the library of :r;incoln'. 
Inn. The· following statement will show to what Reports 
in any other form he has had &CCee& 

J. [)alla.' Opening of tIle Evidence i1l Defelice -011 the 
.fir8t Article of tIll! Charge, 01& the 9tA, 11 th and 12th, of 
Jllne,1792. Gurney's Report. A copy, made for the uee 
of Mr. Hastings' solicitor, is in the Briti8h Museum, Ad­
ditional MS., 1,73_ 

II. Law'. Opening of the Defence 011 the Second Article 
of tJII! -Charge, on till! 15th and 19th of February, 1793. 
I. Gurney's Report. 2. An independent Report, made for 
Mr. Hastings' solicitor, and presened in the British Museum, 
Additional MS., 17,080. 

IlL Plumer'. Summing 01 tM Evidence i71 Difence 011 till! 
Sec01ld Article of the Charge, on the 25th and 30th of April, 
and the-2nd a1ui 6th of ltlay, 1793. Gomey's Report. A 
copy, made for the uee of Mr. Hastings' solicitor, is in the 
British Museum, Additional 1\18., 17,081. 

IV. Dal1tu' Opening of the Evidnlce i1l Defence 011 the 
Sizth, S~enth and Fourteenth, Article. oj the Charge, 011 the 
9th, 16th, 17th and 24th, of ltla!l, 1793. Gurney's Report. 
A copy of the same, with Ii few corrections apparently by 
Mr. Dallas himself, and with occasional corrections and more 
numerous notes by another hand·, ita in the British M08eum, 
Additional 1\1S., 17,082. 

• The writer or the notes appeal'll 10 identity him8e1l with the author or 
an anonymolll pamphlet, intitled .. Remark. on Mr. Fox', S~h in Reply on 
the Article or l'raentll, on tbe Trial or WarTeJl Hasting.,- London, Owen, 
evo.. 179... See Add. ~ 17,082, J 7th May, ( .. 5 h. 
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on oath respecting these transactions, 636 j-Factions in the 
Council, 637 ;-His opportunity of concealing the receipt of the 
presents, ib. ;-Inquiry addressed by the Directors to Mr. Hast­
ings, 638 ;-His refel'ence to ?tlr. Larkins, 639 i-Present from 
Xundulul, 640 j-Its applicAtion to the public service, 641. 

CONCLlTSION OF THE SPEECH OF ROBERT DALLAS, ESQ •• COtTN­

SEL FOR MR. HASTINGS, IN OPENING THE DEFEXCE OX 

THE SIXTH. SEVENTH A..~D FOtTRTEENTH. ARTICLES 01' THE 

CHARGE. RELATING TO PRESENTS j 24TH MAy. 1793. 

Present from Raja Nobkissin, 642 ;-Alleged solicitation of a 
loan, 643 ;-Letter to Directors, ib. ;-Examination before the 
House of Commons, 644 j-The loan retained as a gift, 645 j­
Appropriation of the sum, ib. j-To defray his expenses, 646 j­
Hire of houses, 648 j-Compilation of Hindu and Mohammedan 
law, ib. ;-The Mohammedan academy, 649 ;-Disbursements 
for the office of Governor from 1772 to li!l4, ib. j-Expenditure 
under Lord Clive, 650 j-Mr. Hastings' letter to the Directors, 
651 j-Justification of the appropriation of the money, ib. j­
Offer of a second present from the Wazir, 652 ;-Not intended for 
a bribe, 653 j-Charge of suffering the sum to remain in bills in the 
hands of agents, 654;-Subsequent unwillingness of the Wazir 
to gi\'e the present, ib. j-Disclosure of the offer, 655 ;-Accept­
ance of the present for the Company, 656 j-Charge of corrupt 
moth'e in endeavouring to conceal the transaction, 657 ;-Re­
futed by his instructions to Major Palmer, ib. j-Approval of the 
instructions by the Council, 658 i-Omission to record the in­
structions, 661 ;-Refusal olthe Wazir to transfer the present to 
the Company, ib. j-Charge of mal-administration of the revenue, 
662 j-Indirect admission of Mr. Hastings' honesty, 664 ;-De­
putation of amins, ib. ;-Their conduct, 665 ;-Their instructions 
,not produced by the Managers, ib. ;-Xecessity for fresh valuation 
of the lands, 667 ;-Power given to the amjns, 668 j-The power of 
arrest confined to the Provincial Council, ib. i-Objection of Gen. 
Clavering, 669 ;-Appointment of Gunga Govind Sing, 670;­
Abolition of Provincial Councils, ib. j-First establishment of Pro­
vincial Councils, 6i2 j-Approbation of them by Mr. Hastings, 
673 j-His change of opinion, ib. ;-Expediency of the institution 
at the tinle, 674 ;-Assumed hostility of Mr. Francis, ib. ;-His 
disapproval of the plan of PrO\incial Councils, 676 ;-Evidence 
of Mr. Anderson against them, 677 j-And of Sir John Shore, 
ib. ;-Establishment of Committee of Revenue, 678 ;-Appoint­
ment of Gunga Govind Sing, 6i9 i-Plan of Committee of Ra­
yenue, 680 ;-Approved by the Council, ib. i-Perversion of evi­
dence by the Managers, 681 i-Plan for regulatinK the Committet', 
ib. ;-Chru.'acter of Gunga Go\-iud Sing, 682 ; - ttis skill, 683 ;­
Opinion of Mr. Anderson, ib.;-Evidence of Sir John Shore, 684 ; 
Establishment of Committee of Revenue likely to excite opposi­
tion, 687 ;-Alleged ill results, 688 ;-Evidence of Sir John Shore 
of increased prosperity of the country, 689 ;-Objection of his 
being in complicity with Mr. Hastings, ib. ;-Conclusion, 691, 

VOl" III, e 
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Endea\'oUl' or Mr. Hastings to rerorm the police or Oude, 219 ; 
-Reasons or his journey to Oude, 2..l() ;-Treaty of ChunlU', 2:?1 ; 
-Description of a jagir, i6. ;-Is le8umable, 2'2'2 ;-Misehief 
arising from the nature of the tenu~, 2'23 ;-Mr. Hastin/!s' con­
sent to the resumption of the jagirs, i6. ;--Case of the Begum, 
224 ;-Compensation refused by her, 2'25 ;-Question of her 
guilt, 126 ;-Law respectin~ treaties, 227;-The Begum en­
courages Cheyt 8inlf in resIStance to the Company, 2'.!l! ;-Peri­
lous position of Mr. Hastings in Benares, 2'..>9 ;-Retires to 
ChuDlU', and is joined by the W uir, ib. ;-Letter of Col. Hannay 
reporting hostile acts of the Begum, 230 ;-Responsibility of the 
Begum for the acts of her servant/l, 231 ;-Evidence of Col. 
Popham. 232;-and of Capt. Wade and Lieut. Binell, 233. 

CONCLUSIO~ 01' THR SPEECH 01' EDWARD LAW, EsQ., COUNSEL 

FOR MB.. HAsTINGS, m OPD>NO THR DEFENCE ON THR 

SECOND ARTICLE OF TnE CHARGE, RELATING TO THE 

BEGUllS 01' OUDE; 19TH FEBRUARY, 1793. 

Recapitulation, 235 ;-Evidence of Mohammed ·Amin ?fir, 
236 ;-Application for the nrest of the family of Sheik Khan, 
237. ;-Opposition by Shumshire Khan to the British troops, 338 ; 
-AuthoriSed by the Begum, 239 ;-Letter of Captain Gordon, 
ib. ;-'Letter of Col. Hannay respecting the afFllir at Tand&, 240; 
Complicity of the Begum, ib. ;-]{ebellion of &adat Ali, 242 ;­
Is Wlpunished, ib. ;-History of Saadat Ali, ib. ;-Murderof MW'­
teD Khan, 243 ;-&adat Ali received by the British at Benares, 
ib. ;-Capt. Williama' information, 2 .... ;-Second letter from Col. 
Hannay, ib. ;-Najibs from Lucknowat the battle of Pateeta, 
245 ;-Notoriety of the rebellion, 247 i-Perilous position of 
troops at Fysabad, 247 ;-Resumption of the jagirs, 248 ;-Dis­
belief in the Begum's hostility imputed to Mr. Hastings, ib. ;­
Indications of suspicion in his letters, 249 ;-Termination of the 
troubles in Oude, 250 ;-Interception of despatches, 251 ;-Cor­
respondence between Mr. Hastings and Mr. Wheler, 253 ;-E\'i­
deuce of the rebellion subsequent to the treaty of ChunlU', 255 ;­
Corrupt motive for accusing the Begum attributed to Mr. Hast­
ings, ib. ;-Evidence of Capt. Edwards, 256 ;-Evidence of the 
Begum's guilt in Mr. Hastings' possession, :!5i ;-The afFair at 
Tands, 258 ;-The Begum's 8CCOWlt of it, 259 ;-Insincerity of 
the Begum, 260 ;-Major Macdonald compell;~ to abandon his 
camp, ib. ;-The salute fired from Fysabad, _61 ;-Attempts to 
tamper with the troops of Major Macdonald and Col. Hannay, 261; 
-Case of the Rani of Bansi, 263 ;-'l'reschery of Mohammed 
Khan, 264;-01rer of rewards by the Begum for the heads of 
British offieers, 265 ;-Danger of the troops at Fyaabad, i6.;­
Evidence of Doond Sing, 266 ;-Two witnesses of that name, i6.;­
Deposition of Doond Sing, commandant, 268 ;-Of Doond Sing. 
subahdlU', ib. ;-Pe."Version of Mr. Middleton's t.stimony, 269 ;­
Mr. Hastings' belief in the Begum's guilt,2il ;-Lapseof the trea­
sure, 272;-Willingness of the W uir to seiae the treasure· and 
the jagirs, ill .• -His scheme of a partial resumption defeated by 

·VOL. ilL d 
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Mr. Middleton, :?i3 ;-Charge of harshness in seizing< the trea­
sure, 2i4 ;-Evils of delay, ib.;-Neeessities of the Company, 
275 ;-The present of ten lacs, ill. ;-Debt of the Wazir, 276:­
Mr. Hastings' motives stigmatised as pretences, Z17 ;-Present 
affluence of the Begums, 278 ;-Necessary employment of force, 
ill. ;-Letters of thanks from Capt. Gordon and Col. Hannay to 
the Begum, 279 ;-Surrender of the eunuchs to the Wazir, 280 ; 
-Delivered to the British commander, ill. :-Charge of cruelty 
towards them, ill. ;-Theirrelease after eight months' confinement, 
281 ;-State of the Begum's finances, 282 ;-Leniency of measures 
for obtaining tbe treasure, ill.:-Distress in the Khourd Mahal, 
283 ;-Relief afforded by Major Gilpin, 284 ;-Confusion of dates 
by the Manager, ill. ;-Affidavit of Hoolas Roy, 285;-Want ot 
feeling imputed to Mr. Hastings, 286 ;-His letter on the punish­
ment of the Begums, 287 ;-Non-payment of stipulated compen­
sation for the jagirs, ill.;-Alleged dissatisfaction of the Direc­
tors, ilI.;-Minute of Mr. Stables, 288 ;-Misunderstanding of the 
Directors, ill. ;-Mr. Hastings> letter to the Board, 23d Jan. 1782, 
289 ;-The originator of the measure of seizing the treasure, 290 ; 
-Substance of the Article, ill. ;-Propriety of inquiring into the 
Begum's conduct, 291 ;-Recapitulation, 292 ;-Conclusion; 293. 

SPEECH OF THOMAS PLUMER, ESQ., COUNSEL. FOR MR. BASTINGS, 

IN SUMMUfG UP THE EVIDENCE IN DEFENCE ON THE SECOND 

ARTICLE OF THE CHARGE, RELATING TO THE BEGtrnS OF 

OUDE; 25TH ApRIL, 1793. 

Enormity of guilt charged against Mr.· Hastings, 295 ;-Com­
pleteness of investigation of the Charges, 296 ;-The Article 
founded on erroneous principles, ill. ;-Plan of discussion, 297 ;­
Subjects of the Charge, ill. ;-Resumption of the jagirs, 299;­
Hindu law, 300 ;-A jagir resulII&ble at pleasure, ill. :-Evidence 
of Mr, Purling, ill. :-Mr. Middleton'. description of jagirs, 30'.2 ;­
The Managers' account of the claims of the Begums, 303 :-Con­
tradicted bI. Mr. Hudson, ill. ;-Jagirs resumable, 3().t ;-Testi­
mony of Co .' Duff, 305 ;-Evidence of Sir John Shore, ill. ;-Com­
plicity imputed to Sir John Shore, 307; -Vindication of his 
character, ill. ;-Right of the Sovereign to resume lands, 308;­
Large army kept up by the Begums, 309 ;-Complainta of the 
Waziron the subject oftheja~, 310 ;-Resistanee oftha Begum 
to the aroil of the Wazir, 311 ;-Position and character of the 
Begums, ill. ;-Threatening language of the younger Begum, 312; 
-Early hostilitr to her son, 313 ;-Frequent interposition of Mr. 
Hastings, ill.;-Right of resumption, 314 ;-Seizure of the treasure. 
ill. ;-Evidence against the Begum's right to the treasure, 315;­
Fraudul8Dt conduct of the Begum, ill. ;-Question of title to the 
treasure, 316 ;-Law of Hindust&n on claims to estate of a de­
ceased person, ill. ;-Debts of Suja-u,,"-Dowla, 317;-His successor 
assumes his liabilities, 319 ;-Inherits right to the treasure, ilJ.;­
Suppression of a will by the Begnm, ill. :-Pretended title by gift, 
3'.20 ;-Letters of Mr. Bristow, ilI.;-The Wazir's right admitted 
by him, ~2;-The treasure committed to the Begum 88 a de­
posit, ill. ;-Confidential position of Behar Ali Khan in the 
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Begum's service, 323 ;-Pretended admission by the Wazir of the 
Begum's right, 326 ;-Charge of subornation of letters, 327 ;­
Claim by the Wtlzir to the treasure, 328 i-Pretended support by 
Mr. Hastings of the Begum's claim, 329 ;-Her right derived 
from treaty of.I775, 330 i-Mr. Hasting's opinion grounded on 
misrepresentations of the Begum; ill. ;-:Perversion of evidence, 
331 ;-Admission thai; the treasure was part of the Wazir's pa­
trimony, 33'2;-Admission of the Wazir's right in the agreement 
with the Begum, 333 ;-Place of deposit of the treasure, 334 i 
-The Begum acting as treasurer for the Wazir, 335 ;-His in­
tention of fortifying a place for the treasure, ib; ;-Right to goods 
in the zanana, .336 .-Minutes of Col, Monson and Mr. Francis, 

. ill. i-Subsequent o}linion of. Mr. Francis, 337;-Testimony of 
Mr. Goring, 338 ;":'-'Its irrelevancy, ib. ;-His ignorance of trans-­
actions in Bengal, 340 ;-Real nature of resources of the widow 
of Suraj-ud-Dowla, 341 ;-Recapitulation, 342. 

CONTnWATlON OF. TID: SPEECH OF TRons. PLUMER, ESQ., 
COUNSEL FOR MR. HASTINGS, IN SUMMING UP . THE EVI­

DENCE IN DEFENCE ON. T!lE SECOND ARTICLE OF THE 

CHARGE, RELATING TO THE BEGUMS OF OuDE ; 30TH APrur., 
1793. 

Measures of Mr.'Hastings in connection with treaties, 344 ;­
Treaty with the Bow Begum in 1775, ill.; - With the elder 

. Begum in 1778, 345 ;-:Extortionate character of the treaty, ill.; 
-Financial difficulties of the Wazir on his accession, 346;­
Mutinous spirit in· his army, ib. ;-Dissatisfactions at Lucknow 
fomented by the Begum, 347 ;-Treaty with the Wazir, 1775, 
348 i-Stipulation of the· payment of his father's debt, ib.;­
Application of the Wazir for the funds in the Begum's hands, 
349 ;-Mutiny of his troops, ill. ;-Fifteen lacs obtained from the 
Begum, 350 ;-Further applicationll of the Wazir to the Begum,_ 
351 ;-Calculation of her resources, ib. ;-Failure of the Wazir's 
applications, ,352 ;-Mr. Bristow's interference, 353; -'- He is 
party to a treaty with the Begum, ib. i-Conduct of the Begum, 
354 ;-Relinquishment by the Wazir of his claim, on receipt of 
fiftv-six lacs, 356 ;-:Purpose of the treaty, 357 ;-Guarantee of 
the Company, 358 ;-Breach of faith by. the Begum, 359 ;-Her 

-forfeiture of the guarantee, 360 ;-Mr. Middleton ordered not to 
interfere, 361 ;-:-Unauthorised treaty with the elder Begum, 362; 
·-Interposition of Mr. Hastings on behalf of the "Bow Begum in 
1776, ib. ;-And in 1779, 363;-Violation of the treaties by the 
Begums, 364.;~Nonpayment of the sum due to the Wazir, ill.; 
-Letter of complaint from the Be~um, 365 ;-Its object the re­
moval of Murteza. Khan, 366 i-Objection of General Cla.vering 
and Mr. Francis, ib, ;'-'-The :request refused, 367 ;-Irritation of 
the Begums at the, cession of, Bena.res, 367;-Complaints of Mr. 
Bristow to the Begum, 368 ;-Exculpatory letter of the Wazir, 
.ib. ;-',l'ra.nsference by the Wazir to the Company of the residue 
of .the debt due from the Begum, 369 ;-Final settlement of the 
dispute, 370 j.,-Aid given by the Begums to Cheyt Sing, ib. ;­
Perilous position of the Company's a.ifairs •.. 371 ;-Rebellion of 
Cheyt Sing, ib. i"":'Forfeiture by tlie Begums of the protection of. 

fl2 . 
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Com('UIY. :ti:?;-~ature of the f'videlK'f'. 374 ;-lm\lOSSlbilitr of 
tmnjl the Jk-gums for tftuon. :r,s ;-All~~ oonSl'irM'J' of Mr. 
lia.stinjlS apins' tbe ~"ms, 3;'6 ;-~eftSSIUY romplirity or tbe 
Council. 3;7 ;-And or offit'f'1'8 emplowd. :ti'8 ;-~nft'al ~li~f 
in their I'Pbellion. ill. ;-El"id~ or Capt. Edwards, :\lO;-Eri­
d~1K"e of Major Gilpin. ~I ;-Mr. Hast.in~· ~lier ill the Be­
gum's f(tlilt, ~ ;-1I_y mdellCle, 384 i-Mr. Holt'l UmUll­
ation, Jtt5. 

C.oXTINUATION OF THE SJ'EECH OF TOOIIAS PU:Ju.:a, E~. CoCN. 

SEL FOR 1\l&. HAsTINGS, IN SVlIllUiG ~p THE EvlDEIo"C£ 

IN DEFENCE ON THE SECOND ARTICLE OF TIlE CHUGE, 

RELATING To TOE BEG tillS OF Ot:DE; 21\"1) AbT, 1';93. 

Reality of the Begums' hostilit,.. ~ ;-AlleogatiOll that the 
. assistance sent to C~,-t Sing mme hUm the Wair, :flO ;-I'roof's 

of the Wam's fidelity, :f):! ;-El"ideoce of Sheikh Mobammed, 
393 ;-El"idence of tbe ~ms' puiicipatiOll in the rebellion, 
:f)5 ;-Responsible for tMlf ~nta, :fJG ;-AdmissiOll of the 
re~llion of l,'h~,-t Sing, :f), ;-&lId of insurftot1;iollS in Banikh 
and Goruckpore, 16. ;-Tbe Begums adl"iae Chert Sin, to res ... '" 
the British, ~ ;-Chert Sing'. &ffCIl~ u Fyaabad. :w ;-EarIy 
6U~ or ~,-t Sing, 400j-C-ol. Humay'. marcia obstnacted 
by the ~ms, 401 ;-Cantain Williuns' troops tam~ with, 
ill. ;-AIfIUl' U Tanda, 4tt! ;-Pcili<"1 of the ~m In a.ilting 
o.pt. Gonion. 403 ;-SU0t'ftge8 of the British, 4t" ;-Their inSu­
en("C on the ~'. conduct,. ilI.;-Capt. Gordon &lid ~t. 
Williuns witn_ for the ~Ien('f', o4OS;-Testimony or M¥Jr 
Maroonald, 406 ;-\"alue of the affid.,-its, 40, ;-StatBDmta or 
Major Maroonald, ilI.;-EridezH.e or Ma,ior Gilpin, 04 II ;-Or Col. 
Huma,., 412 ;-Alleged NUIIe of the insUJTeCt.ion,04 16 ;-El"idf"noa 
of C-.lt. Williuns, 41S ;-R«apitularion, 4:?1;-Troop' fro .. 
Fnabad in Chen Sing', U'IJIV. ~I ;-E,idenee or Capt. Wade, 
4:!l ;-Confirmed by Capt. Grey, 4~ ;-Allrpd partWity of 
witnftosee an argument in tat"'OUf of Dekndant, ill.. ;-&nmination 
of Col. Porbam, 42; ;-EricJtonce of Capt. Bilftll. 4~ ;-Eri­
d~nre of Col.. Blair, o4;l.l;-of Cal~t. Simes aDd Capt. 8buld~ 
431 ;-01 MIIJOI' Lumsden. Mr. "ombw-eU. and Col Duft", u;! ; 
~enen1 testimonv to the factor the Btopm'. «Uil\ ilI.;-..."uda& 
Ali', ro~plicitr, o4~;-Recapitulation. 434. 

CONCLt:SlOY OF TIlE SPEECH OF THolIAS PL~u. EsQ., Coni­
SEL FOB 1\l&. BASTINGS, V( Snl~'G ~p TIlE E\"IDENCE 

IY DEFENCE OY THE SII:OOND ARTICLE OF TUB CHARGE, 

RELATIYG TO TUE BEGniS OF On)E i 6TO lliT, 1'193. 

Di\-isiOll or remaindf't' of the subjerl, 436 ;-lIode 01 ennding 
~ D\t'&.~ .043; :-.'ll~ rompulsioa u~ tcnrard,. the ~,. air. 
o4,~ ;-:-.;_~ of the mNllUft'S, 16. ;-Danft'l' 01 IUnaoD of 
Ouele. 439 ;-:-';egotiatioa with MadY Seinw.. 440 ;-.Incnase 
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of military expenditure, 441 ;-Mr. Hastings charged with re­
sponsibility for the government of Oude, 442 :-Reality of the 
debt to the Company, ih. ;-Condition of the Company's 
finances, 443 i-System Cor better government of the country, 
444 ;-Resumption of the jagirs, ih. ;-Inconsistency of the 
charges. 445 ;-Mistaken policy of the Directors in opposing the 
measure, 446 ;-Actual result from it, ih. ;-The Nawab's oppo­
sition, 447 ;-His adoption of the measure as his own, 448;­
Charge that the measure was obtained by bribery, 449 i-Charge 
of receipt of present by Mr. Hastings, 450 ;-Its application to 
the use of the Company, 451 ;-Charge of attempt to conceal the 
receipt of the money, ih. ;-Improbabilities in the Charge, 452 ;­
Manner of executing the measures, 453 ;-Indulgent treatment 
of the Begums, 454 ;-Impracticability of a trial, i~. ;-OJfer of 
compensation for the jagus, 455;-Intemperste answer of the 
Begum, 457 ;-Resistance to the Wazir, 458 :-Troops sent to 
the Wazir's assistance, ih. ;-Withdrswn at his request, 459;­
Orders to Mr. Middleton, i6. ;-His disobedience to them, 461 ;­
Seizure of the keDa at F~zabad. i6. ;-Inhumanity imputed to 
Mr. Hastings, 462 ;-JUEtlce of the measure of seizure of the 
treasure, 463 :-FIlial and matemal obligations, 465;-Affidawits 
swom before Sir Elijah Impey, ih. ;-Treatment of Behar and 
Jewar Ali KhaB, 466;-The whole Board responsible, 469;­

-Falsification of dates imputed to Mr. Hastings, ih. ;-I~arity 
in entering letters. 471 ;-Evidence of Mr. Auriol respectIng the 
letter of the 29th of NO''ember, ih. ;-Alleged distress of the 
Begums, 47'.2 ;-Charge of cruelty in respect of the Khourd 
Mabal, 473 ;-Evidence of Capt. Jacques and Major Gilpin, 
474 i-Confusion of the Charge. 475 ;-Description of the 
Khourd Mabal and the Coss Mahal, 478 i-Support of the 
Khourd Mabal not dependent on the British, 478 ;-ID feeling 
of the Begums towards the women of the Khourd Mahal, 479 ;­
Evidence of Capt. Jacques, ih. ;-Evidence of Mr. Middleton, 
480 ;-Major Gilpin advances money in aid of the Khourd 
Mabal, ih.;-Is rebuked by the WBzir, 481 ;-Charge against 
Mr. Hastings of indifference to the distresses' of the women. ih. ; 
-Paper of intelligence from Fyzabad, 482;-Interpolations, 
483;-Mr. Hastings charged with stifling inquiry, 484 ;-Letter 
of the Directors, ih. ;-Its fallacies, 487 ;-Danger of enco1Ullging 
rebellion, 488 ;-Want of precision in the order of the Directors. 
489 i-Honour of the nation involved in the alleged guilt of 
Mr. Hastings, 491 ;-Elfect of a conviction on the people of 
India, ih. ;-Mr. Hastings' motive for avoidin~ the trial, 492 ;­
Absence of personal considerstions, 493 i-Uniform testimonr to_ 
the c:haracter of Mr. Hastings, 49~ ;-Conclusion, 496. 

SPEECH 01' ROBERT DALLAS, ESQ-. COUNSEL FOB MR. HASTINGS. 

IN OPENING THE DEFENCE ON THE SIXTU. SEVE.,,(TH AND 

}'QURTEENTB, ARTICLES 01' THE CHARGE, RELATING TO 

PRESENTS; 9TH MAY, 1793. 

Consolidation of the three Articles, 497 ;-Description of the 
Charges. 498 i-Receipt of presents for his OWD use, 499 i-Cor-
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ruption, 500 ;-Corrupt practices imputed to the Company's' 
sen'ants, 501 ;-Want of precision in the Charge, ib. ;-Letter of 
Lord Clive, 502;-Penalty bond restraining the Governor from 
taking presents, ib. ;-Restrictive oath proposed by Lord Clive, 
503 ;-His measures adopted by the Council, ih. ;-Period of 
Mr; Hastings' first service in India, 504 ;-He returns a member 
pf the Council of Madras, ib.;- Is appointed second in the 
Council of Bengal, 504;~Approval of Mr. Hastings'measures 
by Committee of the House of Commons, 505 ;-He is appointed 
Governor General, ib.;-Charge of evasion of the restrictive oath, 
506 ;-Evidence of the oath taken by Lord Clive, Mr. Verelst 
and Mr. Cartier, 507 ;-The restrictive oath not taken by Mr. 
Cartier, 510 ;-It is not tendered to Mr. Hastings, ib. ;-Covenant 
entered into by Mr. Hastings previous to departure for India, 
511 ;"":'The restrictive oath not taken by Sir John Macpherson or 
Lord Cornwallis, ib. ;-Letter of the Directors ordering the arrest 
of Mohammed Reza Khan, 512 ;-Charge against Mr. Hastings 
of cruelty in executing the order, 513 ;-Secresy enjoined, ib. ;­
Mr. Hastings' letter in communicating the order to Mohammed 
Reza Khan, 515 ;-His directions to Mr. Middleton respecting 
the arrest, 516 ;-Mr. Middleton's account of the arrest, 517;­
Orders of the Directors respecting the inquiry into Mohammed 
Reza Khan's conduct, 518 i-Prolongation of inquiry occasioned 
by Nundl'omar's contumacy, ib. ;-The inquiry terminated by 
Mr., Hastings, 519 ;-Trials of Mohammed Reza Khan and 
Mr. Hastings compared, ib. ;-Approval of Mr. Hastings' con­
duct by the Directors, 520;-Then" order for appointment of & 

minister to the Wazir, ib. ;-Appointment of Munn, Begum, 
ib. ;-Her alleged unfitness, 521 i-Committee of CirCUit to revise 
the system of collections, 522 ;-Their report, ib. ;-Appointment 
of a naib subahdar, 523 i-Offices of guardian and naib subah­
dar treated as co-extensive by the Managers, ih. ;-Perversion of 
evidence, 524 i-Suppression ofothe office of naib subahdar, ib.;­
The Begum appointed guardian to the Wazir, 525 ;-Alleged 
delegation of supreme power to the Begum, 526 ;-Alleged unfit­
ness of the Begum, 527 i-Sketch of her life adduced by the 
Managers, 528 ;-Evidence of Mohammed Reza. Khan, 530;­
Acquiescence of the Committee of Circuit, 531 i-CorruPt motive 
imputed to Mr. Hastings, 532 ;-Appointment of Raja. Goorda.ss 
proposed by Mr. Hastings, ih. ;-The Council's approval of the 
appointment of MunnyBegum. 533 ;-Approval of Directors, 
ib, i-CorruPt motive imputed to Mr. Hastings, 534 ;-His 
admissif'il of the' receipt of a lac and, a ha.lf of rupees, as 
allowance for entertainment. ib. ;--General' usage, 1)35 ;-Its 
legality, 5~6 ;-Irregula.rities practised by public officers, 537 ;­
Specific corruption imputed to Mr. Hastmgs, ib. ;-Receipt of 
three lacs and & half originally imputed, 538 ;-Unimporta.nce of 
the amount, ill. 
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CONTINUATION OF THE SPEECH OF ROBERT DALLAS, ESQ •• 

CoUNSEL FOR .MR. HASTINGS, IN OPENING THE DEFENCE 

ON THESIXTII. SEVENTH AND FOURTEENTII, ARTICLES OF 

THE CHARGE. RELATING TO PRESENTS; 16TH MAT, 1793. 

, Charge of corrupt motive in appointing Munny Begum, 540; 
-Circumstances adduced in evidence, 542 i-Omission by Mr. 
Hastings to furnish account of the Wazir's expenses, 542;-The 
order to furnish it addressed to the Council generally, 543;­
Charge of fabricating false accounts, 544 ;-Reduction of the 
Wazir's expenses ordered by Mr. Hastings, 545 ;-Eridence of the 
reduction having been made, 546 ;-Pretended conspiracy of Mr. 
Hastings and Mr. Crofts, 547 ;-Mr. Crofts appointed by the 
Council,. 547 ;-Absence of Mr. Hastings at the time, 548.;~ 
Increase of Mr. Croft's salary imputed to Mr. Hastings, 549;­
Was moved by Mr. Barwell, ib. ;-Falsification of evidence by 
the Managem" 550 i-Suppression of grounds of Mr. Barwell's 
motion, 551 ;-Acquiescence of Mr. Francis, ib. ;-Qualified 

- dislient'of Geneni!'<-'lavermg, 552;-Cbarge against Mr. Hast-
, ings of inconsistent conduct towards Nundcomar, 553;-The 

Manager'S description of Nundcomar, 554 ;-Report of the 
Board to appoint Raja Hoordass, 555 ;-Character of Nundcomar 
according to the Directom, 556 ;-Right of Mr. Hastings to 
object to the testimony of Nundcomar, ib. ;-Compulsory palli&­
tion of Nundcomar's conduct, 557 ;-Early reflections on his 
character by Mr. Hastings, 558 ;-Mr. Goring's mission to 
Moomhedabad. ib. ;-Removes the Begum and seizes her papers, 
559 ;-Thememorandum of a payment to Mr. Hastings, ib.;­
Mr: Hastings demands investigation, 560 ;-Mr. Goring's con­
versation with the Begum, 561 ;-Question desired by Mr. Hast­
ings to be put .to the Begum, 562 ;"':'Minute of Col. Monson, 
563 ;-Question of usage, ib, i-Opinions of Mr. Francis, Gen. 
Clavering and Col: MonSon, 564 ;-Account of Mr. Hastings' 
travelling eJrpenses to Moorshedabad, 565 ;-His expenses at 
,Moorshedabad not charged to .the Company, ib. ;-Questions put 
to the Begum, 566 ;-Evidence ofthe Begum, 567 i-Confirmatory 
evidence of Col. Monson, ib. ;-Recapitulation, 56l'! ;-L3pse of 
time prior to the Charge, 569 i-Charge relating to transactions 
subs~quent to the Act of li73, 570 ;-Receipt of presents allow­
able previously to the Act, 571 ;-True meaning of the Act, ib.; _ 
-Corrupt practices prior to the introduction of covenants, 572 ; 
-Their object to ,restrain servants of the Company"from applying 
presents to their own use, ib. i-Similar ohject of the Act, 573; 
-Terms of the Charge, 574 ;-Misapprehension of the Act, ib.; 
-:-Receipt of presents for the use of the Company not contrary 
to the Act. 575 i-Perversion of meaning of the Act, 5i6 i-Proof 
by a subsequent 'Act, 577 ;-Declaratory laws, ib. ;-Acts of 13 

- and 24 'George II!., 578 ;-Act of 24 George III. an enacting 
law, 579; - Recapitulation. 580; - Opposition of majority ofthe 
Council, 581 ;-,-War with 'France, ib. ;-Exertions of Mr. Hast­
ings, 582 ;':":'His recommendation to conciliste Mudaji BosIa. 583; 
-::-Recommendatiou of a, fe}nt on the capital of Madaji Seindia, 
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,1;84 i-Proposal of a demand on Cheyt Sing, ib.;- -Reduced 
number of the Council, 5H5 ;-Agreement of Mr. Francis and Mr. 
Wheler to the first proposition, ib.;-Their objection to attack 
Madaji Scindia, 586 ;-Mr. Hastings' minute In reply, 587 ;­
Offers to provide for the expense of the expedition, ib. ;-Deposits 
two lacs in the treasury, 588 ;-The money previously received 
from Cheyt Sing, ib. ;-The offer made soon after the receipt of 
the money, ib. i-Charge of his offering the mone, as his own, 
590 i-Sends account of the transaction to the DlreCtors, ib.;­
Return of Mr. Francis to Europe alleged as the cause, ib. ;-Pre­
vious disclosure to Mr. Larkins, 591 ;-Dealings with the Raja of 
Berar, 592 ;-Distress of the Raja's army, 593 i-Offer of money 
on condition of assistance, ih. ;-Necessity of secrecy, ib. i-Story 
of the three bonds, 594. 
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Payment of three lacs to the Raja of Berar, 595 ;-Error in 
account sent by Mr. Hastings to the Directors, ib. ;-Attempt of 
Managers to falsify Mr. Hastings' letter of the 29th November, 
1780, 596; -Charge of attempting to defraud the CompanT' 598; 
-Four bonds received by Mr. Hastings, 599 ;-Error IR Mr. 
Hastings' account, ib. ;-Absence of fraudulent intention, 600;-. 
Application for three bonds, ib. ;-History of the fourth bond, 
602 ;-Alleged conversion of the bonds into bills, 603 ;-Applies 
only to Mr. Hastings' bond, ib. ;-Account of the three bonds, 
ib. ;-Misstatement imputed to Mr. Hastings, 605 ;-Indorse­
ment of the bonds, ib. ;-Mr. Larkins' affidavit, ib. ;-Mr. Hast­
ings' letter from Cheltenham, 607 ;-Mistake as to date of 
indorsement, 608 ;-Delivery of the bonds to Mr. Larkin., 
609 i-Success of Mr. Hastings' policy towards Madaji Scindia, 
612 ;-And towards the Raja of Berar, 614 ;-Importance of 
Col. Pearce's junction with Sir Eyre Coote, ib. ;-Bribe from 
Kelleram, 615 ;-Grant of lease, ib. ;-Long leases recommended 
by Mr. Young, 617 i-Character of Kelleram, ib. ;-Kelleram'. 
payment taken as a peshkush, 618 ;-And applied to the publio 
service, 620 ;-Time occupied by the payment, 621 ;-Alle~ed 
inftuence of rumours of intended appropriation of the money, .b. ; 
-Evidence of Mr. Young, ib.;-Previous conduct of Mr. Hast­
ings, 623 ;-Present from the Nawab of Oude, 624 ;-Receipt of 
the money disclosed by Mr. Hastings, 625 ;-Letter to the 
Directors, 626 ;-Imputation of corrupt intention, 627 ;-Asser­
tion of the disclosure being necessitated by the largeness of the 
sum, 627 ;-Evidence of Mr. Middleton, 629 ;-Tardy realisation 
of the bills, ib. ;-Receipt of the money communicated to the 
Directors, 631 ;-Appropriation of it to the public service, ib.;­
Evidence of Mr. Wright, ib. ;-Letter of the 22nd of May, 1782, 
ib. ;-Mention by him of the receipt of other 8ums, 633 ;-Delay 
in Bending the letter, 634 ;-Offer of Mr. Hastings to &nSWel' 


